
CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

Education Of Children Of Military Families 
 

BP 6173.2  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note:  The following optional policy may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

The Governing Board recognizes that children of military families face challenges to their 

academic success caused by the frequent moves or deployments of their parents/guardians in 

fulfillment of military service. The district shall provide such students with academic resources, 

services, and opportunities for extracurricular and enrichment activities that are available to all 

district students. 

 

(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

(cf. 6179 - Supplemental Instruction) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 49700-49704, the Interstate Compact on Educational 

Opportunity for Military Children is applicable to California school districts.  Education Code 

49700-49701 establish uniform means of assisting children of military families, as defined in the 

accompanying administrative regulation, by reducing or eliminating the barriers to their 

educational success caused by the frequent moves and deployments of their parents/guardians. 

Among other things, Education Code 49701 requires that districts be flexible in applying certain 

local rules to such students in order to facilitate their enrollment, placement, advancement, 

eligibility for extracurricular activities, and on-time graduation.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee may waive district policies or rules when necessary to facilitate 

the enrollment, placement, advancement, eligibility for extracurricular activities, or on-time 

graduation of children of military families, in accordance with the Interstate Compact on 

Educational Opportunity for Military Children as ratified in Education Code 49700-49704. 

 

(cf. 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance) 

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 

(cf. 6146.3 - Reciprocity of Academic Credit) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph reflects a recommendation in the California 

Department of Education's (CDE) Final Report to the Legislature on the Interstate Compact on 

Educational Opportunity for Military Children.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide information and/or training to administrators, other 

appropriate district staff, and military families regarding the provisions of the Interstate Compact 



and the educational rights of children of military families. 

 

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Each 

branch of the military appoints school liaison officers or comparable positions to serve as the 

primary point of contact for school-related matters. Their duties include coordinating with local 

school systems and assisting military families with school issues.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with parents/guardians, school liaison officers 

from military installations, and/or other agencies within and outside the state to facilitate the 

transition of children of military families into and out of the district. 

 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 

(cf. 1400 - Relations Between Other Governmental Agencies and the Schools) 

(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to 20 USC 

6311, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act (P.L. 114-95), states and districts are 

required to issue an annual report card which must include state achievement results for students 

who have parents/guardians who are members of the Armed Forces on active duty or full-time 

National Guard duty. The CDE has updated the California Longitudinal Pupil Achievement Data 

System to indicate such students. These students will be assigned a national identification number 

that will facilitate monitoring of their academic progress as they move across military bases and 

from state to state.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board and the public on the 

educational outcomes of children of military families. Such reports may include, but are not 

limited to, school attendance, student achievement test results, promotion and retention rates by 

grade levels, and graduation rates. 

 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

(cf. 5123 - Promotion/Acceleration/Retention) 

(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

35160.5  District policy rules and regulations; requirements; matters subject to regulation 

35179  Interscholastic athletics; associations or consortia 

35181  Students' responsibilities 

35351  Assignment of students to particular schools 

46600-46611  Interdistrict attendance agreements 

48050-48054  Nonresidents 



48200-48208  Persons included (compulsory education law) 

48300-48316 Student attendance alternatives, school district of choice program 

49700-49704  Education of children of military families 

51225.3  Requirements for graduation 

51240-51246  Exemptions from requirements 

51250-51251  School-age military dependents 

66204  Certification of high school courses as meeting university admissions criteria 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 10 

101  Definitions 

1209  Transfer to inactive status list instead of separation 

1211  Members on temporary disability retired list: return to active duty; promotion 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 

1400-1482  Individuals with Disabilities Education Act 

6311  State plan 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 29 

794  Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act 

 

Management Resources: 

CALIFORNIA CHILD WELFARE COUNCIL 

Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Final Report to the Legislature on the Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military 

Children, April 2014 

WEB SITES 

CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 

California Child Welfare Council:  http://www.chhs.ca.gov/Pages/CAChildWelfareCouncil.aspx 

California Department of Education, Educational Options Office:   

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/pf/mc 

Military Interstate Children's Compact Commission: http://www.mic3.net 

 

 

 

 (11/09)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Attendance Supervision 
 

AR 5113.11  

Students 
 

 

***Note:  The following optional administrative regulation is for use by districts that appoint 

their own attendance supervisor and may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to 

Education Code 48242 and 48243, the district may appoint an attendance supervisor or may 

jointly employ an attendance supervisor with one or more other districts. Alternatively, pursuant 

to Education Code 48244, the district may contract with the County Superintendent of Schools 

for the supervision of attendance of district students. AB 2815 (Ch. 829, Statutes of 2016) 

amended Education Code 48244 to delete the requirement that the County Board of Education 

approve the district's contract with the County Superintendent.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall appoint an attendance supervisor and any assistant 

attendance supervisor(s) as may be necessary to supervise the attendance of district students.  

(Education Code 48240) 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48245, the following paragraph is applicable to any 

district with an average daily attendance of 1,000 of more, according to the annual school report 

of the last preceding school year.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that any person appointed as an attendance 

supervisor has been certificated for the work by the County Board of Education.  (Education 

Code 48241, 48245) 

 

Such supervisors shall perform duties related to compulsory full-time education, truancy, 

compulsory continuation education, work permits, and any additional duties prescribed by the 

Superintendent or designee.  (Education Code 48240) 

 

(cf. 5112.1 - Exemptions from Attendance) 

(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 

(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 

(cf. 5113.2 - Work Permits) 

(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 

 

***Note:  Items #1-5 below may be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 48240, as 

amended by AB 2815 (Ch. 829, Statutes of 2016), states the Legislature's intent that attendance 

supervisors fulfill the following duties.*** 

 

The attendance supervisor shall promote a culture of attendance and establish a system to 

accurately track student attendance in order to achieve all of the following:  (Education Code 

48240) 



 

1. Raise the awareness of school personnel, parents/guardians, caregivers, community 

partners, and local businesses of the effects of chronic absenteeism and truancy and other 

challenges associated with poor attendance 

 

2. Identify and respond to grade level or student subgroup patterns of chronic absenteeism or 

truancy 

 

(cf. 5146 - Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students) 

(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 

(cf. 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth) 

(cf. 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families) 

(cf. 6175 - Migrant Education Program) 

 

3. Identify and address factors contributing to chronic absenteeism and habitual truancy, 

including suspension and expulsion 

 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 

 

4. Ensure that students with attendance problems are identified as early as possible to 

provide applicable support services and interventions 

 

5. Evaluate the effectiveness of strategies implemented to reduce chronic absenteeism rates 

and truancy rates 

 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

 

The attendance supervisor may provide support services and interventions, including, but not 

limited to, the following:  (Education Code 48240) 

 

1. A conference between school personnel, the student's parent/guardian, and the student 

 

2. Promotion of cocurricular and extracurricular activities that increase student 

connectedness to school, such as tutoring, mentoring, the arts, service learning, or athletics 

 

(cf. 6142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes) 

(cf. 6142.6 - Visual and Performing Arts) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

 

3. Recognition of students who achieve excellent attendance or demonstrate significant 

improvement in attendance 

 

(cf. 5126 - Awards for Achievement) 

 

4. Referral of the student to a school nurse, school counselor, school psychologist, school 

social worker, and other student support personnel for case management and counseling 



 

(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

 

5. Collaboration with child welfare services, law enforcement, courts, public health care 

agencies, government agencies, or medical, mental health, and oral health care providers to 

receive necessary services 

 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 

 

6. Collaboration with school study teams, guidance teams, school attendance review teams, 

or other intervention-related teams to assess the attendance or behavior problem in partnership 

with the student and his/her parents/guardians or caregivers 

 

(cf. 6164.5 - Student Success Teams) 

 

7. In schools with significantly higher rates of chronic absenteeism, identification of barriers 

to attendance that may require schoolwide strategies rather than case management 

 

8. Referral of the student for a comprehensive psychosocial or psychoeducational 

assessment, including for purposes of creating an individualized education program for a student 

with disabilities or creating a plan pursuant to Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act of 

1973 

 

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 

 

9. Referral of the student to a school attendance review board established pursuant to 

Education Code 48321 or to the probation department pursuant to Education Code 48263 

 

(cf. 5113.12 - District School Attendance Review Board) 

 

10. Referral of the student to a truancy mediation program operated by the county's district 

attorney or probation officer pursuant to Education Code 48260.6 

 

***Note:  The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Among 

the primary roles of the attendance supervisor are the accurate tracking of student attendance and 

monitoring of chronic absence in order to identify students at risk. Pursuant to Education Code 

52060, districts are required to include rates of school attendance, chronic absence, dropout, and 

graduation, as applicable, in their local control and accountability plan (see BP/AR 0460 - Local 

Control and Accountability Plan), and chronic absence is one of the state accountability 

indicators in the California School Dashboard (see BP 0500 - Accountability).*** 

 

The attendance supervisor shall annually report student attendance data to the Superintendent or 

designee and the Governing Board. Such data shall include, by school, grade level, and each 

numerically significant student subgroup as defined in Education Code 52052, rates of school 

attendance, chronic absence in which students are absent on 10 percent of more of the school 

days in the school year, and dropout. 



 

(cf. 5147 - Dropout Prevention) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

1740  Employment of personnel to supervise attendance (county superintendent) 

37223  Weekend classes 

46000  Records (attendance) 

46010-46014  Absences 

46110-46119  Attendance in kindergarten and elementary schools 

46140-46147  Attendance in junior high and high schools 

48200-48208  Children ages 6-18 (compulsory full-time attendance) 

48240-48246  Supervisors of attendance 

48260-48273  Truants 

48290-48297 Failure to comply; complaints against parents 

48320-48325  School attendance review boards 

48340-48341  Improvement of student attendance 

48400-48403  Compulsory continuation education 

52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan 

60901  Chronic absence 

PENAL CODE 

270.1  Chronic truancy; parent/guardian misdemeanor 

WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 

601-601.4  Habitually truant minors 

11253.5   Compulsory school attendance 

CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 

306  Explanation of absence 

420-421  Record of verification of absence due to illness and other causes 

 

Management Resources: 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

School Attendance Review Board Handbook, 2015 

School Attendance Improvement Handbook, 2000 

WEB SITES 

CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 

Attendance Works:  http://www.attendanceworks.org 

California Association of Supervisors of Child Welfare and Attendance:  http://www.cascwa.org 

California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Interdistrict Attendance 
 

AR 5117  

Students 
 

 

OPTION 1:  Interdistrict Attendance Permits 

 

***Note:  The following option is for use by districts that have entered into an agreement with 

one or more other school districts to accept transfers through the "interdistrict attendance permit" 

or "reciprocal agreement" process pursuant to Education Code 46600-46611.  (See Option 1 in 

the accompanying Board policy.)  In 87 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (2004), the Attorney General 

opined that districts could not charge students a fee for processing applications for interdistrict 

attendance.*** 

 

In accordance with an agreement between the Governing Board and the board of another district, 

a permit authorizing a student's attendance outside his/her district of residence may be issued 

upon approval of both the district of residence and the district of proposed attendance. 

 

The Superintendent or designee may approve an interdistrict attendance permit for a student for 

any of the following reasons when stipulated in the agreement: 

 

***Note: Education Code 46600 requires districts to give priority for interdistrict attendance 

permits to a student who is a victim of an act of bullying, as provided below.  For this purpose, 

Education Code 48900(r) defines bullying to include, but not be limited to, bullying committed 

by means of an electronic act directed specifically toward the student; see AR 5144.1 - 

Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process.*** 

 

1. When the student has been determined by staff of either the district of residence or district 

of proposed attendance to be a victim of an act of bullying as defined in Education Code 

48900(r). Such a student shall be given priority for interdistrict attendance under any existing 

interdistrict attendance agreement or, in the absence of an agreement, shall be given consideration 

for the creation of a new permit.  (Education Code 46600) 

 

(cf. 5131.2 - Bullying) 

 

***Note:  Optional items #2-12 below should be revised and/or deleted to reflect district 

practice.*** 

 

2. To meet the child care needs of the student.  Such a student may be allowed to continue 

to attend district schools only as long as he/she continues to use a child care provider within 

district boundaries. 

 

(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development) 



 

3. To meet the student's special mental or physical health needs as certified by a physician, 

school psychologist, or other appropriate school personnel. 

 

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

 

4. When the student has a sibling attending school in the receiving district, to avoid splitting 

the family's attendance. 

 

5. To allow the student to complete a school year when his/her parents/guardians have 

moved out of the district during that year. 

 

6. To allow the student to remain with a class graduating that year from an elementary, 

middle, or senior high school. 

 

7. To allow a high school senior to attend the same school he/she attended as a junior, even 

if his/her family moved out of the district during the junior year. 

 

8. When the parent/guardian provides written evidence that the family will be moving into 

the district in the immediate future and would like the student to start the year in the district. 

 

9. When the student will be living out of the district for one year or less. 

 

10. When recommended by the school attendance review board or by county child welfare, 

probation, or social service agency staff in documented cases of serious home or community 

problems which make it inadvisable for the student to attend the school of residence. 

 

(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 

(cf. 5113.12 - District School Attendance Review Board) 

 

11. When there is valid interest in a particular educational program not offered in the district 

of residence. 

 

12. To provide a change in school environment for reasons of personal and social adjustment. 

 

***Note:  In 84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 198 (2001), the Attorney General opined that a lack of school 

facilities is a justifiable reason for denial of the interdistrict attendance permit request.  However, 

according to the Attorney General, once the student is admitted, the district may not later deny 

the student continued attendance at a district school because of overcrowding.  Although 

Attorney General opinions are not binding on the courts, they are generally afforded deference in 

the court when there is no specific statutory or case law to the contrary.  The following 

paragraph is based on this Attorney General opinion.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee may deny initial requests for interdistrict attendance permits due 

to limited district resources, overcrowding of school facilities at the relevant grade level, or other 

considerations that are not arbitrary.  However, once a student is admitted, the district may not 

deny him/her continued attendance because of overcrowded facilities at the relevant grade level. 

 



(cf. 0410 - Nondiscrimination in District Programs and Activities) 

 

***Note: Education Code 46601 requires that, within 30 days of a request for an interdistrict 

permit, parents/guardians whose permit application was denied must be informed about their 

right to appeal to the County Board of Education.  This notice shall be provided by the district 

denying the request, or, in the absence of an agreement between the districts, by the district of 

residence.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46601, parents/guardians may submit their appeal within 

30 calendar days of the failure or refusal to issue the permit.  The County Board then has 30 

calendar days, unless extended by an additional five school days for good cause, to make its 

determination as to whether the student should be allowed to attend the district of his/her choice. 

However, as amended by SB 344 (Ch. 461, Statutes of 2017), Education Code 46601 allows a 

class 1 county (i.e., a county with a 1994-95 average daily attendance (ADA) of 500,000 or more 

for all districts in the county) 60 calendar days to make its determination, and a class 2 county 

(i.e., a county with a 1994-95 ADA of 180,000-499,999) 45 calendar days to make its 

determination.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46602, if the County Board determines that the student 

should be permitted to attend the district of his/her choice, the district shall admit the student 

without delay.*** 

 

Within 30 calendar days of a request for an interdistrict permit, the Superintendent or designee 

shall notify the parents/guardians of a student who is denied interdistrict attendance regarding the 

process for appeal to the County Board of Education as specified in Education Code 46601.  

(Education Code 46601) 

 

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 

Pending a decision by the two districts or an appeal by the County Board, the Superintendent or 

designee may provisionally admit a student who resides in another district for a period not to 

exceed two school months.  (Education Code 46603) 

 

Students who are under consideration for expulsion or who have been expelled may not appeal 

interdistrict attendance denials or decisions while expulsion proceedings are pending or during 

the term of the expulsion.  (Education Code 46601) 

 

(cf. 5119 - Students Expelled from Other Districts) 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46600, once an interdistrict permit is granted and the 

student is enrolled in the new school, the district of enrollment (1) may not require the student to 

reapply; (2) must allow the student to continue to attend the school, unless the permit contains 

specific standards for reapplication; and (3) along with the district of residence, may not revoke 

the student's existing permit if he/she is entering grade 11 or 12. Therefore, even if an interdistrict 

attendance agreement between the two districts has expired, the student may be allowed to 

continue attending the school to which he/she has transferred, unless the agreement contains 

specific language requiring reapplication.*** 



 

Once a student is admitted to a school on the basis of an interdistrict attendance permit, he/she 

shall not be required to reapply for an interdistrict transfer and shall be allowed to continue to 

attend the school in which he/she is enrolled, unless reapplication standards are otherwise 

specified in the interdistrict attendance agreement.  Existing interdistrict attendance permits shall 

not be rescinded for students entering grade 11 or 12 in the subsequent school year.  (Education 

Code 46600) 

 

OPTION 2:  School District of Choice Program 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that elect to participate in the school district 

of choice program pursuant to Education Code 48300-48317.  (See Option 2 in the 

accompanying Board policy.)*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall communicate with parents/guardians regarding transfer 

opportunities under the school district of choice program. Communications sent to 

parents/guardians shall be available in all languages for which translations are required pursuant 

to Education Code 48985, shall be factually accurate, and shall not target particular 

neighborhoods or individual parents/guardians on the basis of a child's actual or perceived 

academic or athletic skill or any other personal characteristic.  (Education Code 48301, 48980) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 

48312, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), requires a school district of choice to 

make public announcements regarding district schools, programs, policies, and procedures, 

including transportation options. Education Code 48302, as amended by AB 99, encourages 

districts to hold informational meetings and make public announcements regarding the current 

educational programs offered by the district so that parents/guardians may make informed 

decisions regarding their child's education and provide input on methods to improve the current 

programs.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall also make public announcements regarding district schools, 

programs, policies, and procedures, including transportation options if applicable, during the 

enrollment period.  (Education Code 48312) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48301, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), requires that 

application information be posted on the district's web site.*** 

 

The process for student transfers into the district under the school district of choice program, 

including, but not limited to, any applicable form, the timeline for a transfer, and an explanation 

of the selection process, shall be posted on the district's web site.  (Education Code 48301) 

 

(cf. 1113 - District and School Web Sites) 

 

Parents/guardians shall submit applications for interdistrict attendance to the district office by 

January 1 of the school year preceding the school year for which the student may be transferred.  

The application deadline may be waived upon agreement between the district and the student's 

district of residence.  (Education Code 48308) 

 



The application deadline shall not apply to an application requesting a transfer if the 

parent/guardian with whom the student resides is enlisted in the military and was relocated by the 

military within 90 days prior to submitting the application.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

(cf. 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military Families) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48306, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), adds a 

requirement that second priority for admission under the school district of choice program be 

given to students who are eligible for free and reduced-price meals and that third priority be 

given to children of military personnel.*** 

 

Priority for transfer under the school district of choice program shall be granted as follows:  

(Education Code 48306) 

 

1. First priority shall be given to siblings of students already in attendance in the district. 

 

2. Second priority shall be given to students eligible for free or reduced-price meals. 

 

(cf. 3553 - Free and Reduced Price Meals) 

 

3. Third priority shall be given to children of military personnel. 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48305, if the district chooses to use existing entrance 

criteria for specialized schools or programs, then the criteria must be uniformly applied. The 

following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to use existing entrance 

criteria.*** 

 

Any existing entrance criteria for specialized schools or programs shall be uniformly applied to 

all applicants.  (Education Code 48305) 

 

***Note:  Items #1-2 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

The district may deny a transfer into the district under the school district of choice program under 

either of the following circumstances: 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48303 provides that a district may not deny a transfer because the 

additional cost of educating the student would exceed the amount of additional state aid to be 

received.  However, pursuant to Education Code 48303, a transfer may be rejected if it would 

require the district to create a new program to serve the student, as specified in item #1.*** 

 

1. The transfer into the district would require the district to create a new program to serve 

that student, except that the district shall not reject the transfer of a student with disabilities or an 

English learner.  (Education Code 48303) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48307, a school district of choice may prohibit a transfer 

into the district if the Governing Board determines that the transfer would negatively impact a 

court-ordered desegregation plan, a voluntary desegregation plan, or the racial and ethnic balance 

of the district.  In Crawford v. Huntington Beach Union High School District, a California 



appellate court held that a district's intradistrict open enrollment policy, which contained a racial 

and ethnic balance component as authorized by Education Code 35160.5, was unconstitutional. 

According to the court, because the constitutional provisions added by Proposition 209 in 1996 

(California Constitution, Article 1, Section 31) prohibit discrimination against or preferential 

treatment for any individual or group on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national origin, 

a district must not adopt a policy containing different admission criteria on the basis of race. 

However, pursuant to Education Code 48307, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), 

denial of transfers on the basis of a voluntary desegregation plan or the racial and ethnic balance 

of the district must be consistent with the provisions of Proposition 209. It is recommended that 

the district consult legal counsel before adopting a policy to allow the denial of transfers on either 

of these bases.*** 

 

***Note:  For language regarding student transfers out of the district for any of the reasons 

specified in item #2a-c, see section "Transfers Out of the District" below.*** 

 

2. The Board determines that the transfer into the district would negatively impact any of the 

following:  (Education Code 48307) 

 

a. A court-ordered desegregation plan 

 

b. A voluntary desegregation plan of the district, consistent with the California Constitution, 

Article 1, Section 31 

 

c. The racial and ethnic balance of the district, consistent with the California Constitution, 

Article 1, Section 31 

 

Whenever the number of transfer applications exceeds the number of interdistrict transfers that 

may be accepted as annually determined by the Governing Board, students accepted for transfer 

shall be selected by a random drawing held in public at a regularly scheduled Board meeting.  

(Education Code 48301) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48308, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), requires that 

parents/guardians of students who have requested a transfer be provided the following notice by 

February 15.*** 

 

Between January 1 and February 15 of the school year preceding the school year for which the 

student is requesting to be transferred, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the 

parent/guardian in writing whether the application has been provisionally accepted or rejected or 

of the student's position on any waiting list.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48308, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), requires the 

following notifications to the district of residence.*** 

 

If a student's application for transfer is accepted, the Superintendent or designee shall so notify 

the student's district of residence no later than February 15 of the school year preceding the 

school year for which the student is requesting to be transferred.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

The number of students accepted for transfer into the district, by school and grade level, shall be 



reported to the district of residence on or before February 15.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

If a student's application is denied, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the student's 

parents/guardians that the number of students requesting to transfer exceeded the district's 

capacity and that the student was not selected during the random drawing. The determination 

shall be accurately recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting at which the determination was 

made.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

(cf. 9324 - Minutes and Recordings) 

 

For a student whose parent/guardian was relocated by the military 90 days prior to the submission 

of the application, the district shall make a final decision to accept or reject the application within 

90 days of its receipt. If the student's application has been submitted less than 90 days prior to the 

beginning of the school year, then the district shall accept or deny the application before the 

school year begins. Upon his/her acceptance, the student may immediately enroll in a district 

school.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

Vacancies may be filled from the waiting list until May 1 of the school year preceding the school 

year for which students are requesting to be transferred.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

The final number of students accepted for transfer into the district, by school and grade level, 

along with the names of the students, shall be reported to the district of residence on or before 

May 2.  (Education Code 48308) 

 

Students admitted through the school district of choice program are deemed to have fulfilled 

district residency requirements pursuant to Education Code 48204.  (Education Code 48301) 

 

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 

(cf. 5116.1 - Intradistrict Open Enrollment) 

 

Final acceptance of the transfer is applicable for one school year and shall be renewed 

automatically each year unless the Board, by adoption of a resolution, withdraws from 

participation in the program and no longer accepts transfer students from other districts.  

(Education Code 48308) 

 

***Note:  The following paragraph may be revised by districts that do not maintain high 

schools.*** 

 

Even if the district withdraws from participation in the program, students who attended or 

received a notice of acceptance into the district before the Board's resolution of withdrawal shall 

be permitted to attend school in the district, and admitted high school students may continue 

attending school in the district until they graduate from high school.  (Education Code 48307, 

48308) 

 

The district may accept any completed coursework, attendance, and other academic progress 

credited to an accepted student by any district(s) he/she has previously attended and may grant 

academic standing to the student based upon the district's evaluation of the student's academic 

progress.  (Education Code 48309) 



 

(cf. 6146.3 - Reciprocity of Academic Credit) 

 

The district may revoke a student's enrollment if he/she is recommended for expulsion pursuant 

to Education Code 48918.  (Education Code 48309) 

 

Transfers Out of the District 

 

***Note: The following optional section is for use by all districts.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48307, a district must not deny a student whose 

parent/guardian is in active military duty from transferring out of the district to any other district. 

In addition, Education Code 46600, as amended by AB 2659 (Ch. 186, Statutes of 2016), 

provides that a district must not prohibit the transfer of such a student out of the district to any 

other district that approves the transfer, regardless of whether or not an interdistrict transfer 

agreement exists or a permit is issued.*** 

 

A student whose parent/guardian is in active military duty shall not be prohibited from 

transferring out of the district, provided the school district of proposed enrollment approves the 

application for transfer.  (Education Code 46600, 48307) 

 

The district may limit transfers out of the district to a school district of choice under any of the 

following circumstances:  (Education Code 48307) 

 

***Note: Even if a district has not designated itself as a school district of choice, it has the 

authority pursuant to Education Code 48307 to limit the number of students transferring out of 

the district into other districts that have designated themselves as school districts of choice. A 

district with an ADA of more than 50,000 may annually limit the number of such transfers to one 

percent of its current year estimated ADA. A district with an ADA of 50,000 or less may limit the 

number of such transfers to three percent of its current estimated ADA and may limit the 

maximum number of such transfers for the duration of the program to 10 percent of the ADA for 

that period. In Walnut Valley Unified School District v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, 

the appellate court held that the 10 percent cap on outbound transfers "for the duration of the 

program" should be based on the district's ADA over the entire life of the district of choice 

program (i.e., from the program's inception in 1994 until the present day). The district may revise 

item #1 to reflect the applicable percentage in Education Code 48307 based on its ADA.*** 

 

1. The number of student transfers out of the district to a school district of choice has 

reached the limit specified in Education Code 48307 based on the district's average daily 

attendance. 

 

2. The County Superintendent of Schools has given the district a negative budget 

certification or has determined that the district will not meet the state's standards and criteria for 

fiscal stability in the subsequent fiscal year exclusively as a result of student transfers from this 

district to a school district of choice. 

 

(cf. 3100 - Budget) 

 



***Note: Item #3 is optional and should be revised to reflect district practice. As noted above in 

the section "Option 2: School District of Choice Program," Education Code 48307 authorizes the 

district to prohibit a transfer in or out of the district under the school district of choice program if 

the Board determines that the transfer would negatively impact a court-ordered desegregation 

plan, a voluntary desegregation plan, or the racial and ethnic balance of the district. As amended 

by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), Education Code 48307 provides that denial of transfers on 

the basis of a voluntary desegregation plan or the racial and ethnic balance of the district must be 

consistent with the constitutional provisions added by Proposition 209 in 1996 (California 

Constitution, Article 1, Section 31). It is recommended that districts consult legal counsel before 

adopting policy to allow denial of transfers on either of these bases.*** 

 

3. The Board determines that the transfer would negatively impact any of the following:  

(Education Code 48307) 

 

a. A court-ordered desegregation plan 

 

b. A voluntary desegregation plan of the district, consistent with the California Constitution, 

Article 1, Section 31 

 

c. The racial and ethnic balance of the district, consistent with the California Constitution, 

Article 1, Section 31 

 

 

 

 (11/10  7/12)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Withholding Grades, Diploma Or Transcripts 
 

AR 5125.2  

Students 
 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48904, parents/guardians of any minor who willfully 

cuts, defaces, or otherwise injures any real or personal property belonging to the district, or who 

does not return district property that was loaned to the student, are liable for paying damages to 

the district up to the amount specified in law and annually adjusted for inflation; see BP/AR 

3515.4 - Recovery for Property Loss or Damage. Until the damages are paid, the district is 

authorized to withhold the grades, diploma, and/or transcripts of the student responsible for the 

damage.*** 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48904 mandates the Governing Board to establish procedures for 

withholding a student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts until reparation is made.*** 

 

When a minor student willfully cuts, defaces, or otherwise injures real or personal property of the 

district or does not return district property that has been loaned to him/her upon demand of a 

district employee, the student's parents/guardians may be required to pay the costs of all damages 

within the limits established pursuant to Education Code 48904. Until the student's 

parents/guardians have paid for the damages, the Superintendent or designee may withhold the 

student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts.  (Education Code 48904) 

 

(cf. 3515.4 - Recovery for Property Loss or Damage) 

(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 

(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

(cf. 5131.5 - Vandalism and Graffiti) 

(cf. 6161.2 - Damaged or Lost Instructional Materials) 

 

Before withholding the student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts, the Superintendent or 

designee shall inform the student's parents/guardians in writing of the student's alleged 

misconduct.  (Education Code 48904) 

 

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48904 mandates that the district's procedures for withholding a 

student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts conform to procedures established in the Education 

Code for student expulsion. For due process procedures related to student expulsion, see BP/AR 

5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process.*** 

 

The student shall be afforded due process consistent with procedures established for the 

expulsion of students.  (Education Code 48904) 

 



(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

 

If the student and parents/guardians are unable to pay for the damages or return the property, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide a program of voluntary work for the student in lieu of 

monetary damages. Upon completion of the voluntary work, the student's grades, diploma, and/or 

transcripts shall be released.  (Education Code 48904) 

 

When a student who is transferring into the district has had his/her grades, diploma, and/or 

transcripts withheld by the previous district, the Superintendent or designee shall continue to 

withhold the student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts until notified by the previous district 

that the decision to withhold has been rescinded.  (Education Code 48904.3) 

 

Upon receiving notice that a student whose grades, diploma, and/or transcripts have been 

withheld by this district has transferred to another district in California, the Superintendent or 

designee shall provide the student's records to the new district and notify the new district that the 

student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts are being withheld from the student and 

parents/guardians pursuant to Education Code 48904. 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall also notify the student's parents/guardians in writing that 

the decision to withhold the student's grades, diploma, and/or transcripts will be enforced by the 

new district.  (Education Code 48904.3) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

48904  Liability of parent 

48904.3  Withholding grades, diplomas, or transcripts of pupils causing property damage or 

injury; transfer of pupils to new school districts; notice to rescind decision to withhold 

48911  Suspension by principal, designee or superintendent 

49069  Absolute right to access 

 

 

 

 (12/91)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Parent Involvement 
 

AR 6020  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note: The following administrative regulation contains parent/guardian and family 

engagement strategies that meet legal requirements applicable to districts and schools receiving 

federal Title I funds and those that do not receive Title I funds.  The district should use and adapt 

the section(s) applicable to its circumstances.  If desired, the district may develop one set of 

strategies applicable to all schools, provided that all the provisions required by law for both types 

of schools are included.*** 

 

District Strategies for Title I Schools 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that receive Title I, Part A, funds.  20 USC 

6318, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act (P.L. 114-95), mandates that such districts 

develop a policy that describes the means by which the district will address the components 

specified in items #1-6 below. Under each required component below are optional strategies for 

addressing the component, which should be modified to reflect the specific strategies jointly 

developed by the district and the parents/guardians and family members of participating students. 

In the state's Federal Program Monitoring process, California Department of Education (CDE) 

staff will check to ensure that the district has identified such strategies.*** 

 

To ensure that parents/guardians and family members of students participating in Title I programs 

are provided with opportunities to be involved in their children's education, the district shall: 

 

***Note: Pursuant to 20 USC 6318, districts must involve parents/guardians and family members 

in the development of the Title I local educational agency (LEA) plan described in 20 USC 6312; 

also see BP 6171 - Title I Programs. In California, all the requirements of the LEA plan are 

addressed in an addendum to the local control and accountability plan (LCAP). See BP 0460 - 

Local Control and Accountability Plan for further information about the development of the 

LCAP, including requirements for consultation with parents/guardians and other stakeholders and 

for the establishment of a parent advisory committee and English learner parent advisory 

committee.*** 

 

1. Involve parents/guardians and family members in the joint development of a district plan 

that meets the requirements of 20 USC 6312 and in the development of school support and 

improvement plans pursuant to 20 USC 6311  (20 USC 6318) 

 

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 

(cf. 6171 - Title I Programs) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 



 

a. In accordance with Education Code 52063, establish a district-level parent advisory 

committee and, as applicable, an English learner parent advisory committee to review and 

comment on the plan in accordance with the review schedule established by the Governing Board 

 

b. Invite input on the plan from other district committees and school site councils 

 

(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 

(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 

 

c. Communicate with parents/guardians through the district newsletter, web site, or other 

methods regarding the plan and the opportunity to provide input 

 

d. Provide copies of working drafts of the plan to parents/guardians in an understandable and 

uniform format and, to the extent practicable, in a language the parents/guardians can understand 

 

e. Ensure that there is an opportunity at a public Board meeting for public comment on the 

plan prior to the Board's approval of the plan or revisions to the plan 

 

f. Ensure that school-level policies on parent/guardian and family engagement address the 

role of school site councils and other parents/guardians as appropriate in the development and 

review of school plans 

 

2. Provide coordination, technical assistance, and other support necessary to assist and build 

the capacity of Title I schools in planning and implementing effective parent/guardian and family 

engagement activities to improve student academic achievement and school performance, which 

may include meaningful consultation with employers, business leaders, and philanthropic 

organizations or individuals with expertise in effectively engaging parents/guardians and family 

members in education (20 USC 6318) 

 

(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 

 

***Note:  20 USC 6318 mandates that the district's policy or regulation include items #2a-f 

below.  The district may expand these items to describe methods the district will use to carry out 

each activity.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall:  (20 USC 6318) 

 

a. Assist parents/guardians in understanding such topics as the challenging state academic 

content standards and academic achievement standards, state and local academic assessments, the 

requirements of Title I, and how to monitor a child's progress and work with educators to 

improve the achievement of their children 

 

(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 

(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 

(cf. 6162.51 - State Academic Achievement Tests) 

 

b. Provide parents/guardians with materials and training, such as literacy training and using 



technology (including education about the harms of copyright piracy), as appropriate, to help 

them work with their children to improve their children's achievement 

 

c. With the assistance of parents/guardians, educate teachers, specialized instructional 

support personnel, principals and other school leaders, and other staff, in the value and utility of 

parent/guardian contributions and in how to reach out to, communicate with, and work with 

parents/guardians as equal partners, implement and coordinate parent/guardian programs, and 

build ties between parents/guardians and the schools 

 

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 

d. To the extent feasible and appropriate, coordinate and integrate parent/guardian 

involvement programs and activities with other federal, state, and local programs, including 

public preschool programs, and conduct other activities, such as parent resource centers, that 

encourage and support parents/guardians in fully participating in their children's education 

 

e. Ensure that information related to school and parent/guardian programs, meetings, and 

other activities is sent to the parents/guardians of participating students in a format and, to the 

extent practicable, in a language the parents/guardians can understand 

 

f. Provide other such reasonable support for parent/guardian involvement activities as 

parents/guardians may request 

 

***Note: Although not mandated to be included in the district's policy or regulation, item #2g 

reflects a legal requirement in 20 USC 6318(g) to inform parents/guardians about the existence of 

parent information and resource centers in the state that work with Title I schools, districts, and 

parents/guardians. See the management resources in the accompanying Board policy for 

resources that can help districts locate the centers closest to them.*** 

 

g. Inform parents/guardians and parent organizations of the existence and purpose of parent 

information and resource centers in the state that provide training, information, and support to 

parents/guardians of participating students 

 

***Note: Items #2a-t below are optional and should be revised to reflect district practice. Items 

#2a-h are authorized, but not required, by 20 USC 6318.*** 

 

In addition, the Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Involve parents/guardians in the development of training for teachers, principals, and 

other educators to improve the effectiveness of such training 

 

b. Provide necessary literacy training, using Title I funds if the district has exhausted all 

other reasonably available sources of funding for such training 

 

c. Pay reasonable and necessary expenses associated with parent/guardian involvement 

activities, including transportation and child care costs, to enable parents/guardians to participate 



in school-related meetings and training sessions 

 

d. Train parents/guardians to enhance the involvement of other parents/guardians 

 

e. Arrange school meetings at a variety of times or, when parents/guardians are unable to 

attend such conferences, conduct in-home conferences between parents/guardians and teachers or 

other educators who work directly with participating students, in order to maximize 

parent/guardian involvement and participation 

 

f. Adopt and implement model approaches to improving parent/guardian involvement 

 

g. Establish a districtwide parent advisory council to provide advice on all matters related to 

parent/guardian involvement in Title I programs 

 

h. Develop appropriate roles for community-based organizations and businesses in 

parent/guardian involvement activities 

 

i. Make referrals to community agencies and organizations that offer literacy training, 

parent/guardian education programs, and/or other services that help to improve the conditions of 

parents/guardians and families 

 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 

 

j. Provide a master calendar of district activities and district meetings 

 

k. Provide information about opportunities for parent/guardian and family engagement 

through the district newsletter, web site, or other written or electronic means 

 

l. Engage parent-teacher organizations to actively seek out and involve parents/guardians 

through regular communication updates and information sessions 

 

(cf. 1230 - School-Connected Organizations) 

 

m. To the extent practicable, provide translation services at school sites and at meetings 

involving parents/guardians and family members as needed 

 

n. Provide training and information to members of district and school site councils and 

advisory committees to help them fulfill their functions 

 

o. Provide ongoing district-level workshops to assist school site staff, parents/guardians, and 

family members in planning and implementing improvement strategies, and seek their input in 

developing the workshops 

 

p. Provide training for the principal or designee of each participating school regarding Title I 

requirements for parent/guardian and family engagement, leadership strategies, and 

communication skills to assist him/her in facilitating the planning and implementation of related 

activities 

 



q. Regularly evaluate the effectiveness of staff development activities related to 

parent/guardian and family engagement 

 

r. Include expectations for parent/guardian outreach and involvement in staff job 

descriptions and evaluations 

 

(cf. 4115 - Evaluation/Supervision) 

(cf. 4215 - Evaluation/Supervision) 

(cf. 4315 - Evaluation/Supervision) 

 

s. Assign district personnel to serve as a liaison to the schools regarding Title I 

parent/guardian and family engagement issues 

 

t. Provide information to schools about the indicators and assessment tools that will be used 

to monitor progress 

 

3. To the extent feasible and appropriate, coordinate and integrate Title I parent/guardian 

and family engagement strategies with parent/guardian and family engagement strategies of other 

relevant federal, state, and local programs and ensure consistency with federal, state, and local 

laws  (20 USC 6318) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Identify overlapping or similar program requirements 

 

(cf. 0430 - Comprehensive Local Plan for Special Education) 

(cf. 2230 - Representative and Deliberative Groups) 

(cf. 3280 - Sale or Lease of District-Owned Real Property) 

(cf. 5030 - Student Wellness) 

(cf. 5148 - Child Care and Development) 

(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 

(cf. 6175 - Migrant Education Program) 

(cf. 6178 - Career Technical Education) 

 

b. Involve district and school site representatives from other programs to assist in identifying 

specific population needs 

 

c. Schedule joint meetings with representatives from related programs and share data and 

information across programs 

 

d. Develop a cohesive, coordinated plan focused on student needs and shared goals 

 

4. Conduct, with meaningful involvement of parents/guardians and family members, an 

annual evaluation of the content and effectiveness of the parent/guardian and family engagement 

policy in improving the academic quality of the schools served by Title I, including identification 

of:  (20 USC 6318) 

 



a. Barriers to participation in parent/guardian and family engagement activities, with 

particular attention to parents/guardians who are economically disadvantaged, are disabled, have 

limited English proficiency, have limited literacy, or are of any racial or ethnic minority 

background 

 

b. The needs of parents/guardians and family members, so they can better assist with their 

children's learning and engage with school personnel and teachers 

 

c. Strategies to support successful school and family interactions 

 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

 

***Note:  Although it is not mandated to be included in the district's policy or regulation, the 

following paragraph reflects a legal requirement of Education Code 11503 pertaining to 

evaluation of the district's parent/guardian involvement efforts.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall notify parents/guardians of this review and assessment 

through regular school communications mechanisms and shall provide a copy of the assessment 

to parents/guardians upon their request.  (Education Code 11503) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Use a variety of methods, such as focus groups, surveys, and workshops, to evaluate the 

satisfaction of parents/guardians and staff with the quality and frequency of district 

communications 

 

b. Gather and monitor data regarding the number of parents/guardians and family members 

participating in district activities and the types of activities in which they are engaged 

 

c. Recommend to the Board measures to evaluate the impact of the district's parent/guardian 

and family engagement efforts on student achievement 

 

5. Use the findings of the evaluation conducted pursuant to item #4 above to design 

evidence-based strategies for more effective parent/guardian and family involvement and, if 

necessary, to revise the parent/guardian and family engagement policy (20 USC 6318) 

 

6. Involve parents/guardians in the activities of schools served by Title I, which may include 

establishing a parent advisory board comprised of a sufficient number and representative group of 

parents/guardians or family members served by the district to adequately represent the needs of 

the population served by the district for the purposes of developing, revising, and reviewing the 

parent/guardian and family engagement policy  (20 USC 6318) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Include information about school activities in district communications to 

parents/guardians and family members 

 

b. To the extent practicable, assist schools with translation services or other 



accommodations needed to encourage participation of parents/guardians and family members 

 

c. Establish processes to encourage parent/guardian input regarding their expectations and 

concerns for their children 

 

***Note: Pursuant to 20 USC 6318, the district's parent/guardian and family engagement policy 

must be incorporated into the district's Title I LEA plan. In California, all the requirements of the 

LEA plan are addressed in an addendum to the local control and accountability plan (LCAP). See 

BP 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan.*** 

 

The district's Board policy and administrative regulation containing parent/guardian and family 

engagement strategies shall be incorporated into the district's local control and accountability 

plan in accordance with 20 USC 6312 and shall be distributed to parents/guardians of students 

participating in Title I programs.  (20 USC 6318) 

 

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 

School-Level Policies for Title I Schools 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that receive federal Title I, Part A funds.  

20 USC 6318, as amended by P.L. 114-95, mandates that each individual school receiving Title I 

funds have a written parent/guardian and family engagement policy, developed jointly with and 

agreed upon by parents/guardians and family members of participating students, that describes 

the means for carrying out the requirements of 20 USC 6318(c) through (f), reflected in items 

#1-8 below. The following section lists the required components but does not include specific 

strategies which should be added by each school. Schools may also use a template available on 

the web site of the California Department of Education, Title I School-Level Parental 

Involvement Policy, to develop the school-level policy.*** 

 

At each school receiving Title I funds, a written policy on parent/guardian and family 

engagement shall be developed jointly with the parents/guardians and family members of 

participating students. Such policy shall describe the means by which the school will:  (20 USC 

6318) 

 

1. Convene an annual meeting, at a convenient time, to which all parents/guardians of 

participating students shall be invited and encouraged to attend, in order to inform 

parents/guardians of their school's participation in Title I and to explain Title I requirements and 

the right of parents/guardians to be involved 

 

2. Offer a flexible number of meetings, such as meetings in the morning or evening, for 

which related transportation, child care, and/or home visits may be provided as such services 

relate to parent/guardian involvement 

 

***Note: As provided in item #3 below, 20 USC 6318 requires parent/guardian involvement in 

the development of the comprehensive plan required by 20 USC 6314 for schoolwide programs.  

Under state law (Education Code 64001), this plan must be incorporated into the single plan for 

student achievement covering all categorical programs in the state's consolidated application; see 

AR 6171 - Title I Programs and BP/AR 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils for further information 



about the development of this plan.*** 

 

3. Involve parents/guardians in an organized, ongoing, and timely way in the planning, 

review, and improvement of Title I programs, including the planning, review, and improvement 

of the school's parent/guardian and family engagement policy and, if applicable, the joint 

development of the plan for schoolwide programs pursuant to 20 USC 6314 

 

The school may use an existing process for involving parents/guardians in the joint planning and 

design of the school's programs provided that the process includes adequate representation of 

parents/guardians of participating students. 

 

4. Provide the parents/guardians of participating students all of the following: 

 

a. Timely information about Title I programs 

 

b. A description and explanation of the school's curriculum, forms of academic assessment 

used to measure student progress, and the achievement levels of the challenging state academic 

standards 

 

(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 

(cf. 5123 - Promotion/Acceleration/Retention) 

 

c. If requested by parents/guardians, opportunities for regular meetings to formulate 

suggestions and to participate, as appropriate, in decisions related to their children's education, 

and, as soon as practicably possible, responses to the suggestions of parents/guardians 

 

5. If the schoolwide program plan is not satisfactory to the parents/guardians of participating 

students, submit any parent/guardian comments when the school makes the plan available to the 

district 

 

***Note: 20 USC 6318 requires Title I schools to develop a school-parent compact as provided 

in item #6 below. U.S. Department of Education non-regulatory guidance, Parental Involvement: 

Title I, Part A, provides a sample template that schools may use in the development of the 

school-parent compact.*** 

 

6. Jointly develop with the parents/guardians of participating students a school-parent 

compact that outlines how parents/guardians, the entire school staff, and students will share 

responsibility for improved student academic achievement and the means by which the school 

and parents/guardians will build a partnership to help students achieve state standards 

 

This compact shall address: 

 

a. The school's responsibility to provide high-quality curriculum and instruction in a 

supportive and effective learning environment that enables participating students to achieve the 

state's challenging academic achievement standards 

 

b. Ways in which parents/guardians will be responsible for supporting their children's 

learning, volunteering in the classroom, and participating, as appropriate, in decisions related to 



their children's education and the positive use of extracurricular time 

 

(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 

(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 

(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular/Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6154 - Homework/Makeup Work) 

 

c. The importance of communication between teachers and parents/guardians on an ongoing 

basis through, at a minimum: 

 

(1) Parent-teacher conferences in elementary schools, at least annually, during which the 

compact shall be discussed as it relates to the student's achievement 

 

(2) Frequent reports to parents/guardians on their children's progress 

 

(3) Reasonable access to staff, opportunities to volunteer and participate in their child's 

classroom, and observation of classroom activities 

 

(4) Regular two-way, meaningful communication between family members and school staff, 

and, to the extent practicable, in a language that family members can understand 

 

7. Build the capacity of the school and parents/guardians for strong parent involvement by 

implementing the required activities described in item #2 in the section "District Strategies for 

Title I Schools" above 

 

8. To the extent practicable, provide opportunities for the informed participation of 

parents/guardians and family members (including parents/guardians and family members with 

limited English proficiency, parents/guardians and family members with disabilities, and 

parents/guardians and family members of migrant children), including providing information and 

school reports required under 20 USC 6311(h) in a format and language such parents/guardians 

can understand 

 

If the school has a parent involvement policy that applies to all parents/guardians, it may amend 

that policy to meet the above requirements.  (20 USC 6318) 

 

Each school's parent/guardian and family engagement policy shall be made available to the local 

community. Parents/guardians shall be notified of the policy in an understandable and uniform 

format and, to the extent practicable, provided in a language the parents/guardians can 

understand.  (20 USC 6318) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 64001 requires that the single 

plan for student achievement covering the categorical programs in the state's consolidated 

application, including Title I schoolwide programs, be annually reviewed by the school site 

council and submitted to the Board for approval; see BP/AR 0420 - School Plans/Site 

Councils.*** 

 

Each school receiving Title I funds shall annually evaluate the effectiveness of its parent/guardian 



and family engagement policy.  Such evaluation may be conducted during the process of 

reviewing the school's single plan for student achievement in accordance with Education Code 

64001. 

 

The school's policy shall be periodically updated to meet the changing needs of parents/guardians 

and the school.  (20 USC 6318) 

 

District Strategies for Non-Title I Schools 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that do not receive any Title I funds or that 

have one or more individual schools that do not receive Title I funds.  Education Code 11504 

mandates the Board to adopt a policy on parent/guardian involvement, applicable to each school 

that does not receive Title I funds, that is consistent with the purposes and goals in Education 

Code 11502 as reflected in items #1-5 below.  Subitems under items #1-5 are optional strategies 

for carrying out the legal requirement and should be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

For each school that does not receive federal Title I funds, the Superintendent or designee shall, 

at a minimum: 

 

1. Engage parents/guardians positively in their children's education by helping them develop 

skills to use at home that support their children's academic efforts at school and their children's 

development as responsible members of society (Education Code 11502, 11504) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Provide or make referrals to literacy training and/or parent education programs designed 

to improve the skills of parents/guardians and enhance their ability to support their children's 

education 

 

b. Provide information, in parent handbooks and through other appropriate means, regarding 

academic expectations and resources to assist with the subject matter 

 

c. Provide parents/guardians with information about students' class assignments and 

homework assignments 

 

2. Inform parents/guardians that they can directly affect the success of their children's 

learning, by providing them with techniques and strategies that they may use to improve their 

children's academic success and to assist their children in learning at home  (Education Code 

11502, 11504) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Provide parents/guardians with information regarding ways to create an effective study 

environment for their children at home and to encourage good study habits 

 

b. Encourage parents/guardians to monitor their children's school attendance, homework 

completion, and television viewing 

 



c. Encourage parents/guardians to volunteer in their child's classroom and to participate in 

school advisory committees 

 

3. Build consistent and effective communication between the home and school so that 

parents/guardians may know when and how to assist their children in support of classroom 

learning activities  (Education Code 11502, 11504) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Ensure that teachers provide frequent reports to parents/guardians on their children's 

progress and hold parent-teacher conferences at least once per year with parents/guardians of 

elementary school students 

 

b. Provide opportunities for parents/guardians to observe classroom activities and to 

volunteer in their child's classroom 

 

c. Provide information about parent/guardian and family engagement opportunities through 

district, school, and/or class newsletters, the district's web site, and other written or electronic 

communications 

 

d. To the extent practicable, provide notices and information to parents/guardians in a format 

and language they can understand 

 

e. Develop mechanisms to encourage parent/guardian input on district and school issues 

 

f. Identify barriers to parent/guardian and family participation in school activities, including 

parents/guardians and family members who are economically disadvantaged, are disabled, have 

limited English proficiency, have limited literacy, or are of any racial or ethnic minority 

background 

 

g. Encourage greater parent/guardian participation by adjusting meeting schedules to 

accommodate parent/guardian needs and, to the extent practicable, by providing translation or 

interpreter services, transportation, and/or child care 

 

4. Train teachers and administrators to communicate effectively with parents/guardians 

(Education Code 11502, 11504) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Provide staff development to assist staff in strengthening two-way communications with 

parents/guardians, including parents/guardians who have limited English proficiency or limited 

literacy 

 

b. Invite input from parents/guardians regarding the content of staff development activities 

pertaining to home-school communications 

 

5. Integrate parent/guardian and family engagement programs into school plans for 

academic accountability 



 

The Superintendent or designee may: 

 

a. Include parent/guardian and family engagement strategies in school reform or school 

improvement initiatives 

 

b. Involve parents/guardians and family members in school planning processes 

 

 

 

 (8/06)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

School Day 
 

AR 6112  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note: The following optional administrative regulation specifies minimum and maximum 

school days for each grade level as provided by law. The district may revise this regulation to 

reflect district practice.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 46114, the minimum school day in grades K-8 may be 

computed by determining the average number of minutes over 10 consecutive school days (i.e., 

the number of minutes of attendance in any 10 consecutive school days, divided by 10). 

Education Code 46142 authorizes the minimum school day in junior high and high schools to be 

computed by averaging the number of minutes over two consecutive school days. The district 

will be in compliance if the average is at least the minimum day required by law, even if the 

number of minutes in any one school day is less than the minimum required school day specified 

below. However, Education Code 46114 and 46142 provide that no single school day may be less 

than 60 minutes for kindergarten, 170 minutes for grades 1-3, or 180 minutes for grades 4-12.*** 

 

***Note:  Education Code 46201 and 46207 require districts that have reached their local 

control funding formula (LCFF) funding target, as well as districts that received longer day or 

longer year funding prior to the implementation of the LCFF, to offer at least the following 

instructional minutes per school year: 36,000 minutes for kindergarten, 50,400 for grades 1-3, 

54,000 for grades 4-8, and 64,800 for grades 9-12. Pursuant to Education Code 46201 and 46207, 

if this requirement is not met for any grade level, a portion of the district's LCFF allocation will 

be withheld.*** 

 

Kindergarten/Transitional Kindergarten 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that maintain kindergarten and transitional 

kindergarten (TK) classes. Education Code 37202, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 

2017), permits districts to maintain kindergarten or TK classes for different lengths of time 

during the school day, either at the same or different school sites. Districts offering kindergarten 

or TK classes for different lengths of time are still required to meet the minimum and maximum 

length of school day described below.*** 

 

Kindergarten and transitional kindergarten (TK) classes in district schools may be maintained for 

different lengths of time, either at the same or different school sites.  (Education Code 37202) 

 

***Note:  Education Code 46117 establishes a minimum school day of three hours (180 

minutes) for kindergarten students. However, pursuant to Education Code 46119, if a district has 

fewer than 40 kindergarten students, the Governing Board may apply to the Superintendent of 

Public Instruction to maintain two kindergarten classes of 150 minutes each, including recesses, 



taught on the same day by the same teacher.*** 

 

Except as otherwise permitted by law, the average school day established for kindergarten and 

TK students shall be at least three hours, including recesses but excluding noon intermissions, but 

no longer than four hours, excluding recesses.  (Education Code 46111, 46114, 46115, 46117) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph is optional. Although Education Code 46111 provides that 

recess shall be excluded from determining the maximum school day, it is the interpretation of the 

California Department of Education (CDE) that recess time may be counted as instructional 

minutes, at the district's discretion, if teacher supervision occurs.*** 

 

Recess may be counted as instructional minutes for purposes of determining the maximum school 

day if it occurs under teacher supervision. 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that maintain multitrack 

year-round schools pursuant to Education Code 37670.*** 

 

In any multitrack year-round school operating pursuant to Education Code 37670, the 

kindergarten school day may be up to 265 minutes, excluding recesses.  (Education Code 46111) 

 

(cf. 6117 - Year-Round Schedules) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that have established an early 

primary program pursuant to Education Code 8970-8974 in order to provide an integrated, 

experiential, and developmentally appropriate educational program with specified components 

for students in prekindergarten through grade 3. Education Code 8973 provides that the 

kindergarten school day in such programs may exceed four hours under the conditions described 

below, although districts do not receive additional apportionment funds.*** 

 

In any district school operating an early primary program pursuant to Education Code 8970-8974, 

the kindergarten school day may exceed four hours, excluding recess, if both of the following 

conditions are met:  (Education Code 8973) 

 

1. The Governing Board has declared that the extended-day kindergarten program does not 

exceed the length of the primary school day. 

 

2. The extended-day kindergarten program includes ample opportunity for both active and 

quiet activities within an integrated, experiential, and developmentally appropriate educational 

program. 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48003, districts are required to provide an annual report to 

the CDE regarding the type of kindergarten program offered by the district, including part day, 

full day, or both, by completing the School Information Form 2017 located on the CDE web site. 

The form also includes the type(s) of TK program offered.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the California Department of Education 

as to whether the district's kindergarten and TK programs are offered full day, part day, or both.  

(Education Code 48003) 



 

Grades 1-8 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 1-8 and should 

be modified to reflect the grade levels offered by the district.*** 

 

Except as otherwise provided by law, the school day for elementary and middle school students 

shall be: 

 

1. At least 230 minutes for students in grades 1-3, unless the Board has prescribed a shorter 

school day because of lack of school facilities requiring double sessions, in which case the 

minimum school day shall be 200 minutes  (Education Code 46112) 

 

2. At least 240 minutes for students in grades 4-8  (Education Code 46113, 46142) 

 

In determining the number of minutes for purposes of compliance with the minimum school day 

for students in grades 1-8, both noon intermissions and recesses shall be excluded.  (Education 

Code 46115) 

 

Grades 9-12 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 9-12 and may 

be modified to reflect the grade levels offered by the district.*** 

 

The school day for students in grades 9-12 shall be at least 240 minutes.  (Education Code 

46141, 46142) 

 

***Note:  The following list should be revised to reflect programs offered by the district.*** 

 

However, the school day may be less than 240 minutes when authorized by law.  Programs that 

have a minimum school day of 180 minutes include, but are not necessarily limited to: 

 

1. Continuation high school or classes  (Education Code 46141, 46170) 

 

(cf. 6184 - Continuation Education) 

 

2. Opportunity school or classes  (Education Code 46141, 46180) 

 

3. Regional occupational center  (Education Code 46141, 52325) 

 

(cf. 6178.2 - Regional Occupational Center/Program) 

 

4. Work experience education program approved pursuant to Education Code 

51760-51769.5  (Education Code 46141, 46144) 

 

A student in grade 12 who is enrolled in work experience education and is in his/her last semester 

or quarter before graduation may be permitted to attend school for less than 180 minutes per 

school day if he/she would complete all requirements for graduation, except physical education 



courses, in less than 180 minutes each day.  (Education Code 46147) 

 

(cf. 6178.1 - Work-Based Learning) 

 

5. Concurrent enrollment in a community college pursuant to Education Code 48800-48802 

or, for students in grades 11-12, part-time enrollment in classes of the California State University 

or University of California, provided academic credit will be awarded upon satisfactory 

completion of enrolled courses  (Education Code 46146) 

 

(cf. 6172.1 - Concurrent Enrollment in College Classes) 

 

6. An early college high school or middle college high school, provided the students are 

enrolled in community college or college classes in accordance with item #5 above (Education 

Code 46141, 46146.5) 

 

7. Special day or Saturday vocational training program conducted under a federally 

approved plan for career technical education  (Education Code 46141, 46144) 

 

(cf. 6178 - Career Technical Education) 

 

8. Adult education classes  (Education Code 46190) 

 

(cf. 6200 - Adult Education) 

 

***Note:  The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that operate an evening high 

school pursuant to Education Code 51720-51724.*** 

 

For an evening high school operated pursuant to Education Code 51720-51724, the number of 

days, specific days of the week, and number of hours during which the program shall be in 

session may be determined by the Board.  (Education Code 46141, 51721) 

 

Students in grade 12 shall be enrolled in at least five courses each semester or the equivalent 

number of courses each quarter. This requirement shall not apply to students enrolled in regional 

occupational centers or programs, courses at accredited postsecondary institutions, independent 

study, special education programs in which the student's individualized education program 

establishes a different number of courses, continuation education classes, work experience 

education programs, or any other course of study authorized by the Board that is equivalent to the 

approved high school course of study.  (Education Code 46145) 

 

(cf. 6158 - Independent Study) 

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

 

Alternative Block Schedule for Secondary Schools 

 

***Note: The following optional section is for use by districts that choose to create a block 

schedule pursuant to Education Code 46160-46162; see the accompanying Board policy. In 

establishing a block schedule, the district should be aware of state law (Education Code 51222) 

that requires secondary students to attend physical education courses for at least 400 minutes 



each 10 school days; see AR 6142.7 - Physical Education and Activity. Although the daily 

alternating block schedule, often referred to as the A/B block schedule, does fulfill the 

requirement for physical education minutes, other block schedules do not and thus require a 

waiver from the State Board of Education (SBE). See SBE Waiver Policy #99-03 for waiver 

criteria.*** 

 

In order to establish a block or other alternative schedule or to accommodate career technical 

education and regional occupational center/program courses, the district may authorize students 

to attend fewer than the total number of days in which school is in session provided that students 

attend classes for at least 1,200 minutes during any five school day period or 2,400 minutes 

during any 10 school day period.  (Education Code 46160) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that maintain an early college 

high school or middle college high school. Pursuant to Education Code 46160, as amended by 

AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), such districts may schedule classes in these schools so that 

students who satisfy the provisions of Education Code 46146.5 in regard to part-time enrollment 

at community college, the California State University, or the University of California attend 

classes for at least 900 minutes during any five-school day period or 1,800 minutes during any 

10-school day period.*** 

 

An early college high school or middle college high school may be scheduled so that students 

attend classes for at least 900 minutes during any five-school day period or 1,800 minutes during 

any 10-school day period.  (Education Code 46160) 

 

 

 

 (11/06  4/13)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Education For Foster Youth 
 

AR 6173.1  

Instruction 
 

 

Definitions 

 

Foster youth means a child who has been removed from his/her home pursuant to Welfare and 

Institutions Code 309, is the subject of a petition filed under Welfare and Institutions Code 300 or 

602, or has been removed from his/her home and is the subject of a petition filed under Welfare 

and Institutions Code 300 or 602 or is a nonminor who is under the transition jurisdiction of a 

juvenile court, as described in Welfare and Institutions Code 450, and satisfies the criteria 

specified in Education Code 42238.01.  (Education Code 42238.01, 48853.5) 

 

***Note: In instances where the rights of the parent/guardian have been limited, the court may 

appoint an educational representative on a temporary or long-term basis to make educational 

decisions for the student.*** 

 

Person holding the right to make educational decisions means a responsible adult appointed by a 

court pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code 361 or 726. 

 

School of origin means the school that the foster youth attended when permanently housed or the 

school in which he/she was last enrolled. If the school the foster youth attended when 

permanently housed is different from the school in which he/she was last enrolled, or if there is 

another school that the foster youth attended within the preceding 15 months and with which the 

youth is connected, the district liaison for foster youth shall determine which school is the school 

of origin. This determination shall be made in consultation with and with the agreement of the 

foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for the youth, and 

shall be based on the best interests of the foster youth.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48850 expresses the legislative intent that the "best interests" of a 

foster youth include educational stability as well as placement in the least restrictive educational 

program, as provided below.*** 

 

***Note:  In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 6311, determination of a student's "best interest" 

requires consideration of all factors relating to the student's best interest, including the 

appropriateness of the current educational setting and the proximity to the school in which the 

student is enrolled at the time of placement.*** 

 

Best interest means that, in making educational and school placement decisions for a foster 

youth, consideration is given to, among other factors, the proximity to the school at the time of 

placement, appropriateness of the educational setting, educational stability, the opportunity to be 

educated in the least restrictive educational setting necessary to achieve academic progress, and 



the foster youth's access to academic resources, services, and extracurricular and enrichment 

activities that are available to all district students.  (Education Code 48850, 48853; 20 USC 

6311) 

 

District Liaison 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, districts are required to designate a staff person as 

the educational liaison for foster youth. This person may be the same individual designated as the 

liaison for homeless students as required by 42 USC 11432; see AR 6173 - Education for 

Homeless Children.  In addition, Education Code 48853.5 requires that, for districts operating a 

foster youth services program, the liaison be affiliated with that program. The duties of the liaison 

are as specified below.*** 

 

The Superintendent designates the following position as the district's liaison for foster youth:  

(Education Code 48853.5) 

 

________________________________________________ 

(position or title) 

________________________________________________ 

(address) 

________________________________________________ 

(phone number) 

________________________________________________ 

(email) 

 

(cf. 6173 - Education for Homeless Children) 

 

The liaison for foster youth shall: 

 

1. Ensure and facilitate the proper educational placement, enrollment in school, and 

checkout from school of students in foster care  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48645.5 requires districts to accept for credit full or partial 

coursework completed in a public school or nonpublic nonsectarian school or agency in addition 

to a juvenile court school; see the section below entitled "Transfer of Coursework and 

Credits."*** 

 

2. Ensure proper transfer of credits, records, and grades when students in foster care transfer 

from one school to another or from one district to another  (Education Code 48645.5, 48853.5) 

 

 When a student in foster care is enrolling in a district school, the liaison shall contact the 

school last attended by the student to obtain, within two business days, all academic and other 

records.  When a foster youth is transferring to a new school, the liaison shall provide the 

student's records to the new school within two business days of receiving the new school's 

request.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

(cf. 6146.3 - Reciprocity of Academic Credit) 



 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, 48911, 48915.5, and 48918.1, the district liaison 

is required to invite or notify a foster youth's attorney and the appropriate official of the county 

child welfare agency in certain circumstances when expulsion-related proceedings are pending 

against the foster youth.  For specific situations requiring such invitation or notice, see AR 

5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process.*** 

 

3. When required by law, notify the foster youth's attorney and the representative of the 

appropriate county child welfare agency when the foster youth is undergoing any expulsion or 

other disciplinary proceeding, including a manifestation determination prior to a change in the 

foster youth's placement when he/she is a student with a disability.  (Education Code 48853.5, 

48911, 48915.5, 48918.1) 

 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

(cf. 5144.2 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process (Students with Disabilities)) 

(cf. 6159.4 - Behavioral Interventions for Special Education Students) 

 

***Note:  Items #4-8 below are optional and should be modified to reflect district practice.*** 

 

4. As needed, make appropriate referrals to ensure that students in foster care receive 

necessary special education services and services under Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation 

Act of 1973 

 

(cf. 6164.4 - Identification and Evaluation of Individuals for Special Education) 

(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 

 

5. As needed, ensure that students in foster care receive appropriate school-based services, 

such as counseling and health services, supplemental instruction, and after-school services 

 

(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 

(cf. 5148.2 - Before/After School Programs) 

(cf. 6164.2 - Guidance/Counseling Services) 

(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program) 

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 

(cf. 6177 - Summer Learning Programs) 

(cf. 6179 - Supplemental Instruction) 

 

6. Develop protocols and procedures for creating awareness for district staff, including 

principals, school registrars, and attendance clerks, of the requirements for the proper enrollment, 

placement, and transfer of foster youth 

 

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 

***Note: Optional item #7 establishes the responsibility of the district liaison to collaborate with 

other local agencies to coordinate services for foster youth.*** 

 



***Note:  Education Code 42920.5-42921 establish the Foster Youth Services Coordinating 

Program and provide funding for a county office of education or consortium of county offices of 

education to coordinate educational support for foster youth among the districts within their 

jurisdiction. As part of the program, such county offices must develop and implement a 

coordinating plan for purposes of establishing guiding principles and protocols to provide 

supports for foster care students. To the extent possible, such a plan must include, but is not 

limited to, a description of how the program will establish ongoing collaboration among local 

educational agencies, county child welfare agencies, and county probation departments to 

determine the proper educational placement of foster youth. In addition, pursuant to Education 

Code 42921, if a district annually certifies in writing that it is unable, using any other state, 

federal, local, or private funds, to provide tutoring, mentoring, and counseling for foster youth, it 

may enter into a temporary agreement with the foster youth services coordinating program to 

provide those services, if the program has established such services.*** 

 

7. Collaborate with the county office of education, county placing agency, county child 

welfare agency, county probation department, juvenile court, and other appropriate agencies to 

help coordinate services for the district's foster youth 

 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 

(cf. 5113.1 - Chronic Absence and Truancy) 

 

***Note: The following optional item facilitates the annual update of the local control and 

accountability plan required pursuant to Education Code 52060; see BP/AR 0460 - Local Control 

and Accountability Plan.*** 

 

8. Monitor the educational progress of foster youth and provide reports to the 

Superintendent or designee and the Governing Board based on indicators identified in the 

district's local control and accountability plan 

 

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly monitor the caseload of the liaison, as well as 

his/her additional duties outside of the foster youth program, to determine whether adequate time 

and resources are available to meet the needs of foster youth in the district. 

 

Enrollment 

 

A student placed in a licensed children's institution or foster family home within the district shall 

attend programs operated by the district unless one of the following circumstances applies:  

(Education Code 48853, 48853.5) 

 

1. The student has an individualized education program requiring placement in a nonpublic, 

nonsectarian school or agency or in another local educational agency. 

 

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

(cf. 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School and Agency Services for Special Education) 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48853, a district is required to educate foster youth in the 



least restrictive environment necessary for their educational achievement. However, a district 

may be discharged from this obligation when the parent/guardian or other person holding the 

right to make educational decisions for the foster youth unilaterally decides to place the foster 

youth in another educational program and provides the district a written statement as specified in 

item #2 below.*** 

 

2. The parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational decisions for 

the student determines that it is in the best interest of the student to be placed in another 

education program and submits a written statement to the district indicating that determination 

and that he/she is aware of the following: 

 

a. The student has a right to attend a regular public school in the least restrictive 

environment. 

 

b. The alternate education program is a special education program, if applicable. 

 

c. The decision to unilaterally remove the student from the district school and to place 

him/her in an alternate education program may not be financed by the district. 

 

d. Any attempt to seek reimbursement for the alternate education program may be at the 

expense of the parent/guardian or other person holding the right to make educational decisions 

for the student. 

 

(cf. 5116.1 - Intradistrict Open Enrollment) 

(cf. 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance) 

(cf. 6159.3 - Appointment of Surrogate Parent for Special Education Students) 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a foster youth may continue his/her education in 

the school of origin under the circumstances stated below. Elementary and high school districts 

should delete any item (#3b or c) that is not applicable to the grade levels served by the 

district.*** 

 

3. At the initial placement or any subsequent change in placement, the student exercises 

his/her right to continue in his/her school of origin, as defined above. 

 

a. The student may continue in the school of origin for the duration of the court's 

jurisdiction. 

 

b. If the court's jurisdiction over a grade K-8 student is terminated prior to the end of a 

school year, the student may continue in his/her school of origin for the remainder of the school 

year. 

 

c. If the court's jurisdiction is terminated while the student is in high school, the student may 

continue in his/her school of origin until he/she graduates. 

 

d. If the student is transitioning between school grade levels, he/she shall be allowed to 

continue in the district of origin in the same attendance area to provide him/her the benefit of 

matriculating with his/her peers in accordance with the established feeder patterns of school 



districts. A student who is transitioning to a middle school or high school shall be allowed to 

enroll in the school designated for matriculation in another school district. 

 

The district liaison may, in consultation with and with the agreement of the foster youth and the 

person holding the right to make educational decisions for the youth, recommend that the youth's 

right to attend the school of origin be waived and he/she be enrolled in any school that students 

living in the attendance area in which the foster youth resides are eligible to attend. All decisions 

shall be made in accordance with the foster youth's best interests.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

Prior to making any recommendation to move a foster youth from his/her school of origin, the 

liaison shall provide the youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 

the youth with a written explanation of the basis for the recommendation and how the 

recommendation serves the youth's best interests.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

The role of the liaison shall be advisory with respect to placement decisions and determination of 

the school of origin.  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district is required to immediately enroll any 

foster youth transferring into the district even when the foster youth has outstanding fees or fines 

due to the last school attended or the district has not received the foster youth's academic and 

medical records, as listed in items #1-3 below.  However, pursuant to Health and Safety Code 

120341, if a district does not receive a foster youth's immunization records prior to enrolling 

him/her, the district must take steps, after the foster youth is enrolled, to obtain his/her 

immunization records or ensure that he/she is properly immunized.  See BP/AR 5141.31 - 

Immunizations.*** 

 

If the liaison, in consultation with the foster youth and the person holding the right to make 

educational decisions for the foster youth, agrees that the best interests of the youth would be 

served by his/her transfer to a school other than the school of origin, the principal or designee of 

the new school shall immediately enroll the foster youth. The foster youth shall be immediately 

enrolled even if he/she:  (Education Code 48853.5) 

 

1. Has outstanding fees, fines, textbooks, or other items or monies due to the school last 

attended 

 

(cf. 5125.2 - Withholding Grades, Diploma or Transcripts) 

 

2. Does not have clothing normally required by the school, such as school uniforms 

 

(cf. 5132 - Dress and Grooming) 

 

3. Is unable to produce records normally required for enrollment, such as previous academic 

records, proof of residency, and medical records, including, but not limited to, immunization 

records or other documentation 

 

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 

(cf. 5141.26 - Tuberculosis Testing) 

(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations) 



(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48853 and 48853.5 specify that, if a dispute arises regarding school 

placement, then district shall use an existing dispute resolution process available to any district 

student. The following paragraph should be modified to reflect district practice.*** 

 

If the foster youth or a person holding the right to make educational decisions for the foster youth 

disagrees with the liaison's enrollment recommendation, he/she may appeal to the 

Superintendent. The Superintendent shall make a determination within 30 calendar days of 

receipt of the appeal. Within 30 calendar days of receipt of the Superintendent's decision, the 

parent/guardian or foster youth may appeal that decision to the Board. The Board shall consider 

the issue at its next regularly scheduled meeting. The Board's decision shall be final. 

 

(cf. 9320 - Meetings and Notices) 

 

If any dispute arises regarding the request of a foster youth to remain in the school of origin, the 

youth has the right to remain in the school of origin pending resolution of the dispute.  

(Education Code 48853.5) 

 

Transportation 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48853.5, a district may, but is not required to, provide 

transportation to enable a foster youth to attend a school or school district of origin, except when 

it is otherwise required by federal law or pursuant to the individualized education program of a 

student with a disability. In accordance with 20 USC 6312, as amended by the Every Student 

Succeeds Act (P.L. 114-95), districts are mandated to collaborate with the local child welfare 

agency to develop clear written procedures governing how transportation will be provided, 

arranged, and funded to enable foster youth to attend their school of origin, when it is in their best 

interest to do so. The local child welfare agency may reimburse the district for any additional 

costs of such transportation, or the district may agree to pay for or share the costs with the child 

welfare agency. The following section may be revised to reflect the procedures established in 

collaboration with the child welfare agency, or such procedures may be incorporated into a 

memorandum of understanding or other document.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with the local child welfare agency to determine 

how transportation will be provided, arranged, and funded in a cost-effective manner to enable 

foster youth to remain in their school of origin, for the duration of their time in foster care, when 

it is in their best interest to do so. Such transportation costs may be paid by either the child 

welfare agency or the district, or shared by both.  (20 USC 6312) 

 

(cf. 3540 - Transportation) 

(cf. 3541 - Transportation Routes and Services) 

 

Effect of Absences on Grades 

 

The grades of a student in foster care shall not be lowered for any absence from school that is due 

to either of the following circumstances:  (Education Code 49069.5) 

 



1. A decision by a court or placement agency to change the student's placement, in which 

case the student's grades shall be calculated as of the date he/she left school 

 

2. A verified court appearance or related court-ordered activity 

 

(cf. 5121 - Grades/Evaluation of Student Achievement) 

 

Transfer of Coursework and Credits 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education Code 

51225.2 addresses the transferability of coursework and credits completed by foster youth, as 

provided below.*** 

 

When a foster youth transfers into a district school, the district shall accept and issue full credit 

for any coursework that the foster youth has satisfactorily completed while attending another 

public school, a juvenile court school, or a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency and shall not 

require the foster youth to retake the course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 

 

If the foster youth did not complete the entire course, he/she shall be issued partial credit for the 

coursework completed and shall be required to take the portion of the course that he/she did not 

complete at his/her previous school.  However, the district may require the foster youth to retake 

the portion of the course completed if, in consultation with the holder of educational rights for the 

foster youth, the district finds that the foster youth is reasonably able to complete the 

requirements in time to graduate from high school. Whenever partial credit is issued to a foster 

youth in any particular course, he/she shall be enrolled in the same or equivalent course, if 

applicable, so that he/she may continue and complete the entire course.  (Education Code 

51225.2) 

 

***Note:  Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to foster 

youth who transfer from school to school, there is no uniform system for calculating and 

awarding partial credits. To ensure consistency in the treatment of foster youth, the California 

Child Welfare Council (CCWC), in its Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice 

Recommendations available on its web site, recommends the approach specified in the following 

optional paragraph, which may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended 

per subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall 

be equal to two regular class periods per subject.  Partial credits and grades earned by a student 

shall be included on the student's official transcript within two business days of the district's 

notification of the student's transfer, as required under Education Code 49069.5. 

 

In no event shall the district prevent a foster youth from taking or retaking a course to meet the 

eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University or the University of 

California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 

 

Applicability of Graduation Requirements 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Also see BP 



6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements.*** 

 

To obtain a high school diploma, a foster youth shall complete all courses required by Education 

Code 51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements prescribed by the Board. 

 

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 

 

However, when a foster youth who has completed his/her second year of high school transfers 

into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools within the district, 

he/she shall be exempted from all district-adopted coursework and other district-established 

graduation requirements, unless the district makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to 

complete the additional requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of his/her 

fourth year of high school.  Within 30 calendar days of the foster youth's transfer, the 

Superintendent or designee shall notify the foster youth, the person holding the right to make 

educational decisions for him/her, and the foster youth's social worker of the availability of the 

exemption and whether the foster youth qualifies for it.  If the Superintendent or designee fails to 

provide this notification, the student shall be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the 

notification occurs after the student is no longer a foster youth.  (Education Code 51225.1, 

60851) 

 

To determine whether a foster youth is in his/her third or fourth year of high school, the district 

shall use either the number of credits the foster youth has earned as of the date of the transfer or 

the length of his/her school enrollment, whichever qualifies him/her for the exemption.  

(Education Code 51225.1) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall notify any foster youth who is granted an exemption and the 

person holding the right to make educational decisions for him/her how any requirements that are 

waived will affect the foster youth's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational 

institution and shall provide information about transfer opportunities available through the 

California Community Colleges.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

The district shall not require or request a foster youth to transfer schools in order to qualify for an 

exemption and no request for a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption shall be made by a 

foster youth or any person acting on behalf of a foster youth.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

If a foster youth is exempted from local graduation requirements, the exemption shall continue to 

apply after the termination of the court's jurisdiction over the student while he/she is still enrolled 

in school or if he/she transfers to another school or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

Upon making a finding that a foster youth is reasonably able to complete district graduation 

requirements within his/her fifth year of high school, the Superintendent or designee shall:  

(Education Code 51225.1) 

 

1. Inform the foster youth and the person holding the right to make educational decisions for 

him/her of the foster youth's option to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the district's 

graduation requirements and how that will affect his/her ability to gain admission to a 

postsecondary educational institution 

 



2. Provide information to the foster youth about transfer opportunities available through the 

California Community Colleges 

 

3. Upon agreement with the foster youth or, if he/she is under 18 years of age, the person 

holding the right to make educational decisions for him/her, permit the foster youth to stay in 

school for a fifth year to complete the district's graduation requirements 

 

Eligibility for Extracurricular Activities 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48850 provides that, when a foster youth's residence changes 

pursuant to a court order or decision of a child welfare worker, the student shall be immediately 

deemed to meet all residency requirements for participation in extracurricular activities and 

interscholastic sports. For additional information about eligibility requirements, see BP 6145 - 

Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities.*** 

 

A foster youth whose residence changes pursuant to a court order or decision of a child welfare 

worker shall be immediately deemed to meet all residency requirements for participation in 

interscholastic sports or other extracurricular activities.  (Education Code 48850) 

 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

 

Notification and Complaints 

 

***Note: Education Code 48853, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 require that the district's annual 

uniform complaint procedures notification include specified information regarding the 

educational rights of foster youth. See AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures for further 

information regarding this notification. Education Code 48853.5 requires the California 

Department of Education (CDE), in consultation with the California Foster Youth Education 

Task Force, to develop a standardized notice of the educational rights of foster youth and to post 

that notice on its web site.*** 

 

Information regarding the educational rights of foster youth shall be included in the annual 

uniform complaint procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, 

and other interested parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 

51225.1, 51225.2) 

 

(cf. 5145.6 - Parental Notifications) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, and 51225.2 provide that 

complaints of noncompliance with specified requirements related to the education of foster youth 

may be filed in accordance with the uniform complaint procedures specified in 5 CCR 

4600-4687. As with other complaints covered under the uniform complaint procedures, a 

complainant may appeal the district's decision to the CDE and, if the district or CDE finds any 

merit in the complaint, the district must provide a remedy to the affected student.  See BP/AR 

1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures.*** 

 

Any complaint alleging that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the 



education of foster youth may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - 

Uniform Complaint Procedures. If the district finds merit in a complaint, the district shall provide 

a remedy to the affected student. A complainant not satisfied with the district's decision may 

appeal the decision to the California Department of Education (CDE) and shall receive a written 

decision regarding the appeal within 60 days of CDE's receipt of the appeal. If the CDE finds 

merit in an appeal, the district shall provide a remedy to the affected student.  (Education Code 

48853, 48853.5, 49069.5, 51225.1, 51225.2) 

 

(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 

 

 

 

 (12/13  12/15)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Administrative Regulation 

Education Of Children Of Military Families 
 

AR 6173.2  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note:  The following administrative regulation is optional.  Pursuant to Education Code 

49701, districts are required to be flexible in applying their local rules to children of military 

families in order to facilitate their enrollment, placement, advancement, eligibility for 

extracurricular activities, and on-time graduation.*** 

 

***Note:  In addition, Education Code 51251 authorizes the Governing Board to establish a 

course credit transfer policy and to provide early entry transfer, pretranscript evaluation, student 

support services, and other similar assistance to any school-aged child of a military service 

member who is on active duty, or within one year of his/her discharge, or when the child's 

transfer to a new school is a direct result of the military transfer or discharge of his/her 

parent/guardian.*** 

 

Definitions 

 

Children of military families are school-aged children in the household of:  (Education Code 

49701) 

 

1. Members who are in full-time duty status in the active uniformed service of the United 

States, including any member of the National Guard and Reserve on active duty order pursuant to 

10 USC 1209 or 1211 

 

2. Members or veterans of the uniformed services who are severely injured and medically 

discharged or retired, for one year after their medical discharge or retirement 

 

3. Members of the uniformed services who have died while on active duty or as a result of 

injuries sustained on active duty, for one year after their death 

 

Enrollment 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall facilitate the enrollment of children of military families and 

ensure that they are not placed at a disadvantage due to difficulty in the transfer of their records 

from previous school districts and/or variations in entrance or age requirements.  (Education 

Code 49701) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48204.3, as amended by SB 455 (Ch. 239, Statutes of 

2017), a student will be deemed to meet district residency requirements if his/her parent/guardian 

is transferred or is pending transfer to a military installation, as defined, within the state. See AR 

5111.1 - District Residency.*** 



 

A child of a military family shall be deemed to meet district residency requirements if his/her 

parent/guardian, while on active military duty pursuant to an official military order, is transferred 

or is pending transfer to a military installation within the state. The Superintendent or designee 

shall accept electronic submission of such a student's application for enrollment, including 

enrollment in a specific school or program within the district, and for course registration.  

(Education Code 48204.3) 

 

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 

 

When a child of a military family is transferring into the district, the Superintendent or designee 

may enroll the child based on the child's placement in the previous district, pending receipt of the 

child's records.  Upon enrollment, the Superintendent or designee shall immediately request the 

student's records from the student's previous district. The Superintendent or designee shall allow 

the student 30 days from the date of enrollment to obtain all required immunizations.  (Education 

Code 49701) 

 

(cf. 5111 - Admission) 

(cf. 5125 - Student Records) 

(cf. 5141- Health Care and Emergencies) 

(cf. 5141.31- Immunizations) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48307, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), a 

district must not deny a student whose parent/guardian is on active military duty from 

transferring out of the district to any other district. In addition, Education Code 46600, as 

amended by AB 2659 (Ch. 186, Statutes of 2016), provides that districts must not prohibit the 

transfer of such a student out of the district to any other district that approves the transfer, 

regardless of whether or not an interdistrict transfer agreement exists or a permit is issued. Also 

see BP 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance.*** 

 

A child of an active military duty parent/guardian shall not be prohibited from transferring out of 

the district, if the school district of proposed enrollment approves the application for transfer.  

(Education Code 46600, 48307) 

 

(cf. 5117 - Interdistrict Attendance) 

 

When a child of a military family is transferring out of the district, the Superintendent or designee 

shall provide the student's parents/guardians with a complete set of the student's records or, if the 

official student record cannot be released, an unofficial or "hand-carried" record. Upon request 

from the new district, the Superintendent or designee shall provide a copy of the student's record 

to the new district within 10 days.  (Education Code 49701) 

 

Placement 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Pursuant to 

Education Code 51251, the district may provide pretranscript evaluations, as described below, in 

order to address the needs of children of military families.*** 

 



Whenever a student's parent/guardian is serving on active duty or has been discharged from 

military service within the last year and the student transfers to a new school as the direct result 

of the military transfer or discharge, the Superintendent or designee may, prior to the receipt of 

official transcript(s) or the arrival of the student, review the student's coursework to date, 

including any unofficial transcript(s), to determine the appropriate placement of the student in 

classes. The evaluation shall also include communication with school counselors and teachers at 

the former school by videoconferencing, email, and/or telephone calls.  (Education Code 51251) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall initially honor the placement of any child of a military 

family in educational courses and programs based on the child's enrollment and/or assessment in 

his/her previous school. The Superintendent or designee may, to the extent permitted by Board 

policy, waive course or program prerequisites, preconditions, and/or application deadlines when 

making decisions regarding placement of children of military families and their eligibility for 

extracurricular academic, athletic, and social activities.  (Education Code 49701) 

 

(cf. 6141.5 - Advanced Placement) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

(cf. 6172 - Gifted and Talented Student Program) 

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 49701, the district is required to provide a child of a 

military family who has been identified as a student with a disability eligible for services under 

the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 USC 1400-1482) or Section 504 of the federal 

Rehabilitation Act (29 USC 794) with services based on his/her current individualized education 

program or Section 504 plan, as appropriate.  See BP/AR 6159 - Individualized Education 

Program and BP/AR 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504.*** 

 

When a child of a military family transferring into the district has been identified as an individual 

with a disability pursuant to 20 USC 1400-1482, the Superintendent or designee shall provide 

comparable services to the student based on his/her current individualized education program.  

In addition, when the child of a military family transferring into the district is eligible for services 

under Section 504 of the federal Rehabilitation Act, the Superintendent or designee shall make 

reasonable accommodations and modifications to address the needs of the student subject to the 

student's existing Section 504 plan. The district may authorize subsequent evaluations of the 

student to ensure appropriate placement.  (Education Code 49701) 

 

(cf. 6159 - Individualized Education Program) 

(cf. 6164.4 - Identification and Evaluation of Individuals for Special Education) 

(cf. 6164.6 - Identification and Education Under Section 504) 

 

Transfer of Coursework and Credits 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education Code 

51225.2, as amended by AB 365 (Ch. 739, Statutes of 2017), requires districts to issue credit for 

coursework satisfactorily completed at another school, as provided below.*** 

 

When a child of a military family transfers into a district school, the district shall accept and issue 



full credit for any coursework that the student has satisfactorily completed while attending 

another public school, a nonpublic, nonsectarian school or agency, or a juvenile court school and 

shall not require the student to retake the course.  (Education Code 51225.2) 

 

(cf. 6146.3 - Reciprocity of Academic Credit) 

(cf. 6159.2 - Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School or Agency Services for Special Education) 

 

If the student did not complete the entire course, he/she shall be issued partial credit for the 

coursework completed and shall be required to take only the portion of the course that he/she did 

not complete at his/her previous school. However, the district may require the student to retake 

the portion of the course completed if, in consultation with the student's parent/guardian, the 

district finds that the student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate 

from high school. Whenever partial credit is issued, the student shall be enrolled in the same or 

equivalent course, if applicable, so that he/she may continue and complete the entire course.  

(Education Code 51225.2) 

 

***Note: Although Education Code 51225.2 requires districts to award partial credits to children 

of military families who transfer from school to school, there is no uniform system for calculating 

and awarding partial credits. A recommendation for how to award partial credit is available in the 

California Child Welfare Council's Partial Credit Model Policy and Practice Recommendations 

and should be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

Partial credits shall be awarded on the basis of 0.5 credits for every seven class periods attended 

per subject. If the school is on a block schedule, each block schedule class period attended shall 

be equal to two regular class periods per subject. 

 

In no event shall the district prevent a child of a military family from taking or retaking a course 

to meet the eligibility requirements for admission to the California State University or the 

University of California.  (Education Code 51225.2) 

 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 

 

Absences 

 

***Note: The California Department of Education's (CDE) Final Report to the Legislature on the 

Interstate Compact on Educational Opportunity for Military Children, available on its web site, 

contains a sample letter that may be provided to parents/guardians to report deployment-related 

absences.*** 

 

When a student's parent/guardian is an active duty member and is called to duty for, is on leave 

from, or is immediately returned from deployment to a combat zone or to combat support 

posting, the Superintendent or designee may grant additional excused absences to the student to 

visit with his/her parent/guardian.  (Education Code 49701) 

 

(cf. 5113 - Absences and Excuses) 

 

Graduation Requirements 

 



***Note: The following section is for use by districts maintaining high schools. Education Code 

51225.1, as amended by AB 365 (Ch. 739, Statutes of 2017), exempts children of military 

families from district-established graduation requirements, under certain conditions, when they 

transfer after completing two years of high school. Also see BP 6146.1 - High School Graduation 

Requirements.*** 

 

To obtain a high school diploma, a child of a military family shall complete all courses required 

by Education Code 51225.3 and fulfill any additional graduation requirements prescribed by the 

Governing Board. 

 

(cf. 6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements) 

 

However, when a child of a military family who has completed his/her second year of high 

school transfers into the district from another school district or transfers between high schools 

within the district, he/she shall be exempted from all district-adopted coursework and other 

district-established graduation requirements, unless the district makes a finding that the student is 

reasonably able to complete the additional requirements in time to graduate from high school by 

the end of his/her fourth year of high school. Within 30 calendar days of the student's transfer, the 

Superintendent or designee shall notify the student and his/her parent/guardian of the availability 

of the exemption and whether the student qualifies for it. If the Superintendent or designee fails 

to provide this notification, the student shall be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if 

the notification occurs after the student no longer meets the definition of a child of a military 

family pursuant to Education Code 49701.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

To determine whether a child of a military family is in his/her third or fourth year of high school, 

the district shall use either the number of credits he/she has earned as of the date of the transfer or 

the length of his/her school enrollment, whichever qualifies him/her for the exemption.  

(Education Code 51225.1) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall notify any child of a military family who is granted an 

exemption and his/her parent/guardian how any requirements that are waived will affect the 

student's ability to gain admission to a postsecondary educational institution and shall provide 

information about transfer opportunities available through the California Community Colleges.  

(Education Code 51225.1) 

 

The district shall not require or request a child of a military family to transfer schools in order to 

qualify for an exemption, and no child of a military family or his/her parent/guardian shall be 

permitted to request a transfer solely to qualify for an exemption.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

If a child of a military family is exempted from local graduation requirements, the exemption 

shall continue to apply after the student no longer meets the definition of a child of a military 

family or if he/she transfers to another school or school district.  (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

If the Superintendent or designee determines that a child of a military family is reasonably able to 

complete district graduation requirements within his/her fifth year of high school, he/she shall:  

(Education Code 51225.1) 

 

1.  Inform the student and, if under 18 years of age, his/her parent/guardian of the option 



available to the student to remain in school for a fifth year to complete the district's graduation 

requirements and how that will affect his/her ability to gain admission to a postsecondary 

educational institution 

 

2.  Provide information to the student about transfer opportunities available through the 

California Community Colleges 

 

3.  Upon agreement with the student, or with the parent/guardian if the student is under 18 

years of age, permit the student to stay in school for a fifth year to complete the district's 

graduation requirements 

 

Notification and Complaints 

 

***Note: Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2, as amended by AB 365 (Ch. 739, Statutes of 

2017), provide that complaints of noncompliance with specified requirements related to the 

educational rights of children of military families may be filed in accordance with the uniform 

complaint procedures specified in 5 CCR 4600-4687. As with other complaints covered under the 

uniform complaint procedures, a complainant may appeal the district's decision to the CDE and, 

if the district or CDE finds any merit in the complaint, the district must provide a remedy to the 

affected student. See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures.*** 

 

Information regarding the educational rights of children of military families, as specified in 

Education Code 51225.1 and 51225.2, shall be included in the annual uniform complaint 

procedures notification distributed to students, parents/guardians, employees, and other interested 

parties pursuant to 5 CCR 4622.  (Education Code 51225.1, 51225.2) 

 

Any complaint alleging that the district has not complied with requirements regarding the 

education of children of military families, as specified in Education Code 51225.1 or 51225.2, 

may be filed in accordance with the district's procedures in AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint 

Procedures. 

 

(cf. 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures) 

 

 

 

 (11/09  3/16)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

Interdistrict Attendance 
 

BP 5117  

Students 
 

 

***Note:  The Education Code provides a number of options under which a district may enroll a 

student whose parent/guardian does not reside within district boundaries. Under an "interdistrict 

attendance permit" or "reciprocal agreement" pursuant to Education Code 46600-46611, a student 

may attend school in a different district when both the district of residence and the district of 

proposed attendance agree (Option 1 below). Alternatively, pursuant to Education Code 

48300-48317, the Governing Board may declare the district to be a "school district of choice" 

willing to accept a specific number of interdistrict transfers into the district through a random 

selection process (Option 2 below). In order to maintain the integrity of the random selection 

process, it is recommended that a school district of choice not also accept transfers under the 

interdistrict attendance permit option except when extraordinary circumstances exist, as provided 

in Option 2 below. Districts that wish to use both sources of authority should consult legal 

counsel.*** 

 

***Note:  In addition, pursuant to Education Code 48204, a district may authorize a student 

whose parent/guardian is employed within district boundaries to attend a school in the district 

(Allen bill transfer); see AR 5111.1 - District Residency. A student attending a school identified 

as low achieving on the state's Open Enrollment List may transfer to a school in any other district 

in the state, pursuant to Education Code 48350-48361; see BP/AR 5118 - Open Enrollment Act 

Transfers.*** 

 

The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians of students who reside within the 

geographic boundaries of one district may, for a variety of reasons, desire to enroll their children 

in a school in another district. 

 

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 

(cf. 5116.1 - Intradistrict Open Enrollment) 

(cf. 5118 - Open Enrollment Act Transfers) 

 

OPTION 1: Interdistrict Attendance Permits 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that have entered into an agreement with 

one or more other districts to accept transfers through interdistrict attendance permits pursuant to 

Education Code 46600-46611. Districts selecting this option should also select Option 1 in the 

accompanying administrative regulation.*** 

 

The Board may enter into an agreement with any other school district, for a term not to exceed 

five school years, for the interdistrict attendance of students who are residents of the districts.  

(Education Code 46600) 



 

***Note: Education Code 46600 requires that the interdistrict attendance agreement specify the 

terms and conditions under which individual permits may be granted or denied. In addition, 

pursuant to Education Code 46600, students who have been granted an interdistrict attendance 

permit must be allowed to continue to attend the school without having to reapply unless the 

agreement between the two districts contains specific agreed-upon standards for reapplication; 

see the accompanying administrative regulation. Districts also may include in the agreement their 

agreed-upon standards for revocation of students' interdistrict attendance. Examples of conditions 

that may result in revocation include falsification of information stated on the permit application, 

unsatisfactory attendance, continual disruption, or poor academic achievement.*** 

 

The agreement shall specify the terms and conditions under which interdistrict attendance shall 

be permitted or denied. It also may contain standards agreed to by both districts for reapplication 

and/or revocation of the student's permit.  (Education Code 46600) 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 46600, it is the responsibility of the attendance supervisor 

of the district of residence, subject to board policies of the district of residence and terms of the 

agreement, to issue an individual permit verifying the district's approval of an interdistrict 

transfer out of the district. The permit shall become valid when endorsed by the board's designee 

in the district of proposed attendance.*** 

 

Upon receiving a permit for transfer into the district that has been approved by the student's 

district of residence, or upon receiving a written request from the parent/guardian of a district 

student who wishes to enroll in another district, the Superintendent or designee shall review the 

request and may approve or deny the permit subject to the terms and conditions of the 

interdistrict attendance agreement. 

 

OPTION 2:  School District of Choice Program 

 

***Note: The following section is for use by districts that elect to participate in the school district 

of choice program pursuant to Education Code 48300-48317.  Districts selecting this option 

should also select Option 2 in the accompanying administrative regulation.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48301, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), 

any district that elects to participate in this program must, on or before July 1, 2018, register as a 

school district of choice with the Superintendent of Public Instruction and the County Board of 

Education. Pursuant to Education Code 48317, as amended by AB 99, failure to register will 

result in the loss of a portion of the district's local control funding formula apportionment 

attributable to the average daily attendance (ADA) of students enrolled through the school district 

of choice program in the previous year.*** 

 

The Board has designated the district as a "school district of choice" and shall accept students 

who reside in other California districts who wish to attend a district school. 

 

Each year, the Superintendent or designee shall recommend to the Board the number of transfer 

students that the district will be able to accept and shall identify the schools, grade levels, and 

programs that will be able to accept these students. 

 



***Note: Education Code 48301, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), requires that 

a school district of choice accept all transfers up to the maximum number established by the 

Board.*** 

 

The Board shall, by resolution, annually establish the number of students who will be accepted 

into the district through this program. Once established, the district shall accept all students who 

apply to transfer into the district until the district is at maximum capacity.  (Education Code 

48301) 

 

***Note: Whenever the number of student applications exceeds the number of transfers that the 

Board has established, Education Code 48301 requires a random, unbiased process for selecting 

students who will be admitted and prohibits consideration of certain factors. AB 99 (Ch. 15, 

Statutes of 2017) amended Education Code 48301 to expand the list of factors that must not be 

considered. Pursuant to Education Code 48301, family income may only be considered to the 

extent necessary to determine enrollment priority pursuant to Education Code 48306; see the 

accompanying administrative regulation.*** 

 

The Board shall establish a selection process which ensures that students are admitted to district 

schools through an unbiased process that prohibits an inquiry into or evaluation or consideration 

of whether or not a student should be enrolled based upon his/her academic or athletic 

performance, physical condition, proficiency in English, any of the individual characteristics set 

forth in Education Code 200, or family income.  (Education Code 48301) 

 

If the number of transfer applications exceeds the number of transfers the Board has elected to 

accept, approval for transfer shall be determined by a random drawing held in public at a 

regularly scheduled Board meeting.  (Education Code 48301) 

 

***Note:  Because the school district of choice program requires a random selection process, it 

is recommended that participating districts not admit students through the interdistrict attendance 

permit process described in Option 1 above except under extraordinary circumstances. Such 

circumstances might include approving interdistrict attendance permits for students who are 

victims of an act of bullying. Such students are given priority for interdistrict attendance permits 

pursuant to Education Code 46600; see the accompanying administrative regulation.*** 

 

Because the district admits students in accordance with the school district of choice program, the 

Superintendent or designee shall not admit students based on individual interdistrict attendance 

permits pursuant to Education Code 46600-46611 except under extraordinary circumstances. 

 

***Note: Education Code 48313 requires a school district of choice to maintain and report 

specified information regarding requests for transfers and the disposition of those requests. As 

amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), Education Code 48313 requires this report to 

include the eligibility for free or reduced-price meals of students transferring into or out of the 

district and the number of students provided transportation; see items #3 and 5 below.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall maintain a record of requests for admittance that includes, 

but is not limited to, all of the following:  (Education Code 48313) 

 

1. The number of requests granted, denied, or withdrawn and, for denied requests, the reason 



for the denial 

 

2. The number of students transferred into and out of the district pursuant to this program 

 

3. The race, ethnicity, gender, self-reported socioeconomic status, eligibility for free or 

reduced-price meals, and the district of residence for each student transferred into or out of the 

district pursuant to this program 

 

4. The number of students transferred into or out of the district pursuant to this program who 

are classified as English learners or students with disabilities 

 

***Note: Education Code 48311 authorizes, but does not require, a school district of choice to 

provide transportation to participating students to the extent that the district provides 

transportation assistance to other students. See section on "Transportation" below. Item #5 may 

be deleted by districts that do not provide transportation.*** 

 

5. As applicable, the number of students described in items #3 and 4 above who are 

provided transportation assistance to a district school or program, and the total number of 

students provided transportation assistance, pursuant to the school district of choice program 

 

***Note: AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017) amended Education Code 48313 to revise the 

deadline for submitting the above report and to delete the requirement to submit the report to the 

Department of Finance. As amended, Education Code 48313 requires the California Department 

of Education to collect and report statewide data on its web site and to share the information with 

specified state agencies.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall report to the Board, at a regularly scheduled meeting, the 

information specified in items #1-5 above. No later than October 15 of each year, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide the same information for the current school year, as well 

as information regarding the district's status as a school district of choice in the upcoming school 

year, to each geographically adjacent school district, the county office of education, and the 

Superintendent of Public Instruction.  (Education Code 48313) 

 

The district's compliance with program requirements shall be subject to the annual district audit 

conducted pursuant to Education Code 41020.  (Education Code 48301) 

 

(cf. 3460 - Financial Reports and Accountability) 

 

Transportation 

 

***Note:  The following optional section is for use by all districts and should be revised to 

reflect district practice.  Districts are not required to provide transportation or transportation 

assistance to students admitted under an interdistrict attendance permit pursuant to Education 

Code 46600-46611. Pursuant to Education Code 48311, a school district of choice is authorized, 

but not required, to provide transportation assistance to the extent that the district otherwise 

provides transportation assistance to students.*** 

 

The district shall not provide transportation beyond any school attendance area.  Upon request of 



a student's parent/guardian, the Superintendent or designee may authorize transportation for an 

interdistrict transfer student to and from designated bus stops within the attendance area of the 

school that the student attends if space is available. 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

41020  Annual district audits 

46600-46611  Interdistrict attendance agreements 

48204  Residency requirements for school attendance 

48300-48317 Student attendance alternatives, school district of choice program 

48350-48361 Open Enrollment Act 

48900  Grounds for suspension or expulsion; definition of bullying 

48915  Expulsion; particular circumstances 

48915.1  Expelled individuals:  enrollment in another district 

48918  Rules governing expulsion procedures 

48980  Notice at beginning of term 

52317  Regional occupational center/program, enrollment of students, interdistrict attendance 

CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 

Article 1, Section 31  Nondiscrimination on the basis of race, sex, color, ethnicity, or national 

origin 

ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS 

87 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (2004) 

84 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 198 (2001) 

COURT DECISIONS 

Walnut Valley Unified School District v. the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, (2011) 192 

Cal.App.4th 234 

Crawford v. Huntington Beach Union High School District, (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1275 

 

Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 

California Department of Education:  http://www.cde.ca.gov 

 

 

 

 (7/12  12/15)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

Alcohol And Other Drugs 
 

BP 5131.6  

Students 
 

 

The Governing Board believes that the use of alcohol or other drugs adversely affects a student's 

ability to achieve academic success, is physically and emotionally harmful, and has serious social 

and legal consequences. The Superintendent or designee shall develop comprehensive programs 

and activities to foster safe, healthy, and drug-free environments that support academic 

achievement. 

 

(cf. 0450 - Comprehensive Safety Plan) 

(cf. 4020 - Drug and Alcohol-Free Workplace) 

(cf. 5137 - Positive School Climate) 

 

***Note: The Every Student Succeeds Act (P.L. 114-95) amended 20 USC 7101-7122 to 

establish the Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants program, which may be used for 

several specified purposes including activities to improve school conditions for student learning. 

For participating districts, 20 USC 7118 requires parent/guardian involvement in program 

activities and encourages partnerships with an institution of higher education, business, nonprofit 

organization, community-based organization, or other public or private entity. 20 USC 7116 

specifies stakeholder groups that must be consulted in the development of the grant application, 

including parents/guardians, teachers, principals, other school leaders, specialized instructional 

support personnel, students, community-based organizations, local government representatives 

(e.g., law enforcement, juvenile court, child welfare agency, public housing agency), Indian tribes 

or tribal organizations, charter school leaders and staff, and others with relevant and 

demonstrated expertise in alcohol and drug prevention and intervention.*** 

 

***Note:  In addition, Education Code 51268 encourages districts to collaborate with county 

offices of education in the provision of education programs for alcohol and drug prevention and 

to coordinate program planning and implementation with health, social services, criminal justice, 

and other entities.*** 

 

***Note:  The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

The district's alcohol and drug prevention and intervention programs shall be coordinated with 

other school and community-based services and programs and shall promote the involvement of 

parents/guardians. The Superintendent or designee may collaborate with the county office of 

education, community-based organizations, health providers, law enforcement agencies, local 

child welfare agencies, postsecondary institutions, businesses, and other public and private 

entities in program planning, implementation, and evaluation. 

 

(cf. 1020 - Youth Services) 



(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 

(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 

 

***Note:  Items #1-4 below reflect some of the types of programs that may be funded through 

the Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants program pursuant to 20 USC 7118, as 

amended by P.L. 114-95, and may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

Prevention and intervention programs and activities may include, but are not limited to:  (20 

USC 7118) 

 

1. Evidence-based drug and violence prevention activities and programs that educate 

students against the use of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, smokeless tobacco products, and electronic 

cigarettes 

 

(cf. 5131.62 - Tobacco) 

 

2. Professional development and training for school staff, specialized instructional support 

personnel, and interested community members on drug prevention, education, early 

identification, intervention mentoring, recovery support services, and, where appropriate, 

rehabilitation referral 

 

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4231 - Staff Development) 

(cf. 4331 - Staff Development) 

 

3. School-based mental health services, including early identification of drug use and 

referrals to counseling services, and/or partnerships with public or private health care entities that 

have qualified mental and behavioral health professionals 

 

(cf. 5141.6 - School Health Services) 

 

4. Programs and activities that provide mentoring and school counseling to all students, 

including students who are at risk of drug use and abuse 

 

Instruction 

 

The district shall provide science-based preventative instruction which has been proven effective 

in helping students avoid the use of alcohol and other drugs. 

 

(cf. 6142.1 - Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction) 

(cf. 6142.8 - Comprehensive Health Education) 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 

 

All instruction and related materials shall consistently state that unlawful use of alcohol or other 

drugs is prohibited. Instruction shall not include any message on responsible use of drugs or 

alcohol when such use is illegal.  (Health and Safety Code 11999.2) 

 

The district shall offer staff development activities for staff who implement the comprehensive 



drug and alcohol prevention and intervention program. 

 

Intervention, Referral, and Student Assistance Programs 

 

***Note: Pursuant to 20 USC 7118, as amended by P.L. 114-95, programs which may be funded 

under the Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants program include programs of 

counseling, mentoring, referral services, and other student assistance programs. The following 

section may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

***Note:  In addition, Education Code 215 mandates that any district serving grades 7-12 adopt 

a suicide prevention policy which contains measures and strategies for addressing the needs of 

high-risk groups, including, but not limited to, youth with substance use disorders. See BP/AR 

5141.52 - Suicide Prevention.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform school staff, students, and parents/guardians about 

early warning signs which may indicate alcohol and other drug use and about appropriate 

agencies offering intervention programs, counseling, referral, and other student assistance 

programs. 

 

The Board strongly encourages any student who is using alcohol or drugs to discuss the matter 

with his/her parent/guardian or with any staff member. Students who disclose their use of alcohol 

or other drugs when seeking help from an intervention or recovery program shall not be 

disciplined for such use. 

 

(cf. 5141.52 - Suicide Prevention) 

 

Enforcement/Discipline 

 

Students shall not possess, use, or sell alcohol or other drugs and related paraphernalia on school 

grounds or at school-sponsored activities. 

 

(cf. 3513.3 - Tobacco-Free Schools) 

(cf. 3513.4 - Drug and Alcohol Free Schools) 

(cf. 5131 - Conduct) 

(cf. 5131.61 - Drug Testing) 

(cf. 5131.63 - Steroids) 

(cf. 5145.11 - Questioning and Apprehension by Law Enforcement) 

(cf. 5145.12 - Search and Seizure) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall clearly communicate to all students, staff, and 

parents/guardians the district's policies, regulations, and school rules related to the use of alcohol 

and other drugs. 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 48900, a student's unlawful possession, use, sale, or 

furnishing of alcohol or a controlled substance is a ground for suspension or expulsion; see AR 

5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process. Education Code 48915 requires immediate 

suspension and mandates expulsion for any student who sells drugs at school or while under 

school jurisdiction.  In addition, Education Code 48902 requires districts to notify law 



enforcement of any acts which may involve the possession or sale of narcotics or a controlled 

substance. However, when suspension and expulsion are not mandated, districts should consider 

whether it is appropriate to use an alternative discipline that maintains safety and order on 

campus and corrects student misbehavior without unnecessarily excluding students from school 

or discouraging them from seeking assistance for substance abuse.*** 

 

Any student found by the Board to be selling a controlled substance listed in Health and Safety 

Code 11053-11058 shall be expelled in accordance with BP/AR 5144.1 - Suspension and 

Expulsion/Due Process.  A student found to have committed another drug or alcohol offense, 

including possession or intoxication, shall be referred to appropriate behavioral interventions or 

student assistance programs, and may be subject to discipline on a case-by-case basis. 

 

(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

 

Program Evaluation 

 

***Note: Pursuant to 20 USC 7116, as amended by P.L. 114-95, an application for Student 

Support and Academic Enrichment Grants must include a description of how the district will 

periodically evaluate program effectiveness based on identified program objectives and 

outcomes. The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

The Board and Superintendent shall agree upon performance measures that will be used to 

monitor and determine the effectiveness of district programs in reducing drug and alcohol use.  

The Superintendent or designee shall periodically report to the Board on the effectiveness of 

district activities in achieving identified objectives and outcomes.  (20 USC 7116) 

 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

44049  Known or suspected alcohol or drug abuse by student 

44645  In-service training anabolic steroids 

48900  Suspension or expulsion (grounds) 

48900.5  Suspension, limitation on imposition; exception 

48901  Smoking or use of tobacco prohibited 

48901.5  Prohibition of electronic signaling devices 

48902  Notification of law enforcement authorities; civil or criminal immunity 

48909  Narcotics or other hallucinogenic drugs 

48915  Expulsion; particular circumstances 

49602  Confidentiality of pupil information 

51202  Instruction in personal and public health and safety 

51203  Instruction on alcohol, narcotics and restricted dangerous drugs 

51210  Areas of study 

51220  Areas of study, grades 7 to 12 



51260-51269  Drug education 

60041 Instructional materials 

60110-60115  Instructional materials on alcohol and drug education 

BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE 

25608  Alcohol on school property; use in connection with instruction 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE 

11032  Narcotics, restricted dangerous drugs and marijuana 

11053-11058  Standards and schedules 

11353.6  Juvenile Drug Trafficking and Schoolyard Act 

11357  Unauthorized possession of marijuana; possession in school or on school grounds 

11361.5  Destruction of arrest or conviction records 

11372.7  Drug program fund; uses 

11802  Joint school-community alcohol abuse primary education and prevention program 

11999-11999.3  Alcohol and drug program funding; no unlawful use 

124175-124200  Adolescent family life program 

PENAL CODE 

13860-13864  Suppression of drug abuse in schools 

VEHICLE CODE 

13202.5  Drug and alcohol related offenses by person under age of 21, but aged 13 or over; 

WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE 

828   Disclosure of information re minors 

828.1  Disclosure of criminal records; protection of vulnerable staff & students 

UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 

5812  National education goals 

7101-7122  Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grants 

 

Management Resources: 

WEB SITES 

California Department of Education, Alcohol, Tobacco and Other Drug Prevention:  

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/he/at 

California Healthy Kids:  http://www.californiahealthykids.org 

Office of Safe and Healthy Students: https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oese/oshs 

 

 

 

 (2/96  7/04)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

Parent Involvement 
 
BP 6020  
Instruction 
 
 
***Note: 20 USC 6318, as amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act (P.L. 114-95), mandates 
each district receiving federal Title I, Part A, funds to have a written parent/guardian and family 
engagement policy developed jointly with and agreed upon by parents/guardians and family 
members of participating students.   Education Code 11504 mandates districts to adopt a policy 
on parent/guardian involvement applicable to each school that does not receive Title I funds. The 
following policy and accompanying administrative regulation contain language satisfying both 
mandates and should be revised to reflect district practice.*** 
 
***Note:  In addition, Education Code 51101 mandates policy for all districts addressing the 
manner in which parents/guardians, school staff, and students may share responsibility for 
continuing the intellectual, physical, emotional, and social development and well-being of 
students; see BP/AR 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities for language fulfilling this 
mandate.*** 
 
***Note:  For best practices in implementing parent/guardian and family engagement programs, 
see the California Department of Education's Family Engagement Framework: A Tool for 
California School Districts.*** 
 
The Governing Board recognizes that parents/guardians are their children's first and most 
influential teachers and that sustained parent/guardian involvement in the education of their 
children contributes greatly to student achievement and a positive school environment. The 
Superintendent or designee shall consult with parents/guardians and family members in the 
development of meaningful opportunities for them to be involved in district and school activities 
at all grade levels; advisory, decision-making, and advocacy roles; and activities to support 
learning at home. 
 
(cf. 0420 - School Plans/Site Councils) 
(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 
(cf. 1230 - School-Connected Organizations) 
(cf. 1240 - Volunteer Assistance) 
(cf. 1250 - Visitors/Outsiders) 
 
Parents/guardians shall be notified of their rights to be informed about and to participate in their 
children's education and of the opportunities available to them to do so. 
 
(cf. 5020 - Parent Rights and Responsibilities) 
 
The district's local control and accountability plan shall include goals and strategies for 



parent/guardian involvement, including district efforts to seek parent/guardian input in district 
and school site decision making and to promote parent/guardian participation in programs for 
English learners, foster youth, students eligible for free and reduced-price meals, and students 
with disabilities.  (Education Code 42238.02, 52060) 
 
(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall regularly evaluate and report to the Board on the 
effectiveness of the district's parent/guardian and family engagement efforts, including, but not 
limited to, input from parents/guardians, family members, and school staff on the adequacy of 
involvement opportunities and on barriers that may inhibit participation. 
 
(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 
 
Title I Schools 
 
***Note: The following section is for use by districts that receive Title I funds.  20 USC 6318 
mandates that such districts develop, jointly with parents/guardians and family members of 
participating students, policy which establishes expectations and objectives for meaningful 
parent/guardian and family involvement and describes how the district will address specified 
components. See the accompanying administrative regulation for the required components and 
optional strategies for addressing each component.*** 
 
***Note:  State law (Education Code 11503) also mandates procedures to ensure that 
parents/guardians are consulted and participate in the planning, design, implementation, and 
evaluation of the Title I parent/guardian and family engagement program.*** 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family members in 
establishing district expectations and objectives for meaningful parent/guardian and family 
engagement in schools supported by Title I funding, developing strategies that describe how the 
district will carry out each activity listed in 20 USC 6318, as contained in the accompanying 
administrative regulation, and implementing and evaluating such programs, activities, and 
procedures. As appropriate, the Superintendent or designee shall conduct outreach to all 
parents/guardians and family members.  (Education Code 11503; 20 USC 6318) 
 
(cf. 6171 - Title I Programs) 
 
***Note: The following paragraph is for use by districts that receive more than $500,000 in Title 
I, Part A funding. Pursuant to 20 USC 6318, the Governing Board must reserve at least one 
percent of the district's Title I funding to carry out parent/guardian and family engagement 
activities, provided that one percent of the allocation received by the district totals more than 
$5,000.  As amended by P.L. 114-95, 20 USC 6318 requires that at least 90 percent of the 
reserved funds must be distributed to eligible schools, with priority given to "high-need schools" 
as defined in 20 USC 6631.*** 
 
When the district's Title I, Part A allocation exceeds the amount specified in 20 USC 6318, the 
Board shall reserve at least one percent of the funding to implement parent/guardian and family 
engagement activities. The Superintendent or designee shall involve parents/guardians and family 



members of participating students in decisions regarding how the district's Title I funds will be 
allotted for parent/guardian and family engagement activities and shall ensure that priority is 
given to schools in high poverty areas in accordance with law.  (20 USC 6318, 6631) 
 
(cf. 3100 - Budget) 
 
***Note: As amended by P.L. 114-95, 20 USC 6318 identifies allowable uses of the Title I funds 
reserved for parent/guardian and family engagement, as provided below. These uses are 
consistent with the activities that must be addressed in the district's parent/guardian and family 
engagement policy, as described in the accompanying administrative regulation.*** 
 
Expenditures of such funds shall be consistent with the activities specified in this policy and shall 
include at least one of the following:  (20 USC 6318) 
 
1. Support for schools and nonprofit organizations in providing professional development 
for district and school staff regarding parent/guardian and family engagement strategies, which 
may be provided jointly to teachers, principals, other school leaders, specialized instructional 
support personnel, paraprofessionals, early childhood educators, and parents/guardians and 
family members 
 
2. Support for programs that reach parents/guardians and family members at home, in the 
community, and at school 
 
3. Dissemination of information on best practices focused on parent/guardian and family 
engagement, especially best practices for increasing the engagement of economically 
disadvantaged parents/guardians and family members 
 
4. Collaboration with community-based or other organizations or employers with a record of 
success in improving and increasing parent and family engagement 
 
5. Any other activities and strategies that the district determines are appropriate and 
consistent with this policy 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that each school receiving Title I funds develops a 
school-level parent/guardian and family engagement policy in accordance with 20 USC 6318. 
 
Non-Title I Schools 
 
***Note: The following section is for use by districts that do not receive any Title I funds or that 
have one or more individual schools that do not receive Title I funds.  Education Code 11504 
mandates the Board to adopt a policy on parent/guardian involvement, applicable to each school 
that does not receive Title I funds, that is consistent with the purposes and goals in Education 
Code 11502.  See the accompanying administrative regulation for information about these goals 
and sample strategies for addressing each goal.*** 
 
The Superintendent or designee shall develop and implement strategies applicable to each school 
that does not receive federal Title I funds to encourage the involvement and support of 
parents/guardians in the education of their children, including, but not limited to, strategies 



describing how the district and schools will address the purposes and goals described in 
Education Code 11502.  (Education Code 11504) 
 
 
 
Legal Reference: 
EDUCATION CODE 
11500-11506 Programs to encourage parent involvement 
48985  Notices in languages other than English 
51101  Parent rights and responsibilities 
52060-52077  Local control and accountability plan 
54444.1-54444.2  Parent advisory councils, services to migrant children 
56190-56194  Community advisory committee, special education 
64001  Single plan for student achievement 
LABOR CODE 
230.8  Time off to visit child's school 
CODE OF REGULATIONS, TITLE 5 
18275  Child care and development programs, parent involvement and education 
UNITED STATES CODE, TITLE 20 
6311  State plan 
6312 Local educational agency plan 
6314 Schoolwide programs 
6318 Parent and family engagement 
6631 Teacher and school leader incentive program, purposes and definitions 
CODE OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS, TITLE 28 
35.104  Definitions, auxiliary aids and services 
35.160  Communications 
 
Management Resources: 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Title I School-Level Parental Involvement Policy 
Family Engagement Framework: A Tool for California School Districts, 2014 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 
Parental Involvement:  Title I, Part A, Non-Regulatory Guidance, April 23, 2004 
WEB SITES 
CSBA:  http://www.csba.org 
California Department of Education, Family, School, Community Partnerships: 
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ls/pf 
California Parent Center:  http://parent.sdsu.edu 
California State PTA:  http://www.capta.org 
National Coalition for Parent Involvement in Education:  http://www.ncpie.org 
National PTA: http://www.pta.org 
Parent Information and Resource Centers:  http://www.pirc-info.net 
Parents as Teachers National Center:  http://www.parentsasteachers.org 
U.S. Department of Education:  http://www.ed.gov 
 
 
 



 (6/96  8/06)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

School-Sponsored Trips 
 

BP 6153  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note: The following optional policy should be revised to reflect district practice. For 

language regarding transportation for field trips, see AR 3541.1 - Transportation for 

School-Related Trips.*** 

 

The Governing Board recognizes that field trips supplement and enrich the classroom learning 

experience, lead to increased student achievement, and foster student engagement. The Board 

encourages field trips to reinforce and increase learning opportunities and to enhance district 

programs. 

 

(cf. 0460 - Local Control and Accountability Plan) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph is consistent with the goals of field trips and excursions 

specified in Education Code 35330. Districts that wish to prohibit certain types of trips (e.g., trips 

to amusement parks, boating) because of educational or safety concerns may modify the 

following paragraph accordingly.*** 

 

Field trips shall be conducted in connection with the district's course of study or school-related 

social, educational, cultural, athletic, school band, or other extracurricular or cocurricular 

activities.  A field trip to a foreign country may be permitted to familiarize students with the 

language, history, geography, natural science, and other studies relative to the district's course of 

study.  (Education Code 35330) 

 

(cf. 6143 - Courses of Study) 

(cf. 6145 - Extracurricular and Cocurricular Activities) 

(cf. 6145.2 - Athletic Competition) 

 

***Note:  The following paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice.*** 

 

Requests for field trips involving out-of-state, out-of-country, or overnight travel shall be 

submitted to the Superintendent or designee. The Superintendent or designee shall review the 

request and make a recommendation to the Board as to whether the request should be approved 

by the Board. All other field trips shall be approved in advance by the principal. 

 

(cf. 3312.2 - Educational Travel Program Contracts) 

 

The principal shall establish a process for approving a staff member's request to conduct a field 

trip.  When planning trips, staff shall consider student safety, objectives of instruction, the most 

effective use of instructional time, the distance from school, district and student expense, and 



transportation and supervision requirements.  Principals may exclude from the trip any student 

whose presence on the trip would pose a safety or disciplinary risk. 

 

(cf. 3530 - Risk Management/Insurance) 

(cf. 3541.1 - Transportation for School-Related Trips) 

(cf. 5142 - Safety) 

(cf. 5143 - Insurance) 

(cf. 5144 - Discipline) 

(cf. 5144.1 - Suspension and Expulsion/Due Process) 

 

No field trip shall be authorized if any student would be excluded from participation because of a 

lack of sufficient funds.  The Superintendent or designee shall coordinate with community 

groups to supply funds for students in need.  (Education Code 35330) 

 

(cf. 1230 - School-Connected Organizations) 

(cf. 1321 - Solicitation of Funds from and by Students) 

(cf. 1700 - Relations Between Private Industry and the Schools) 

 

***Note: Education Code 35330, as amended by AB 341 (Ch. 40, Statutes of 2017), eliminates 

the prohibition against the use of district funds to pay for the expenses of students participating in 

field trips or excursions to another state, to the District of Columbia, or to a foreign country. 

Pursuant to Education Code 35330, unlike field trips within the state, no transportation 

allowances will be made by the Superintendent of Public Instruction for out-of-state field 

trips.*** 

 

The Board may approve the use of district funds for student expenses for in-state, out-of-state, or 

out-of-country field trips or excursions when permitted by law. In addition, expenses of 

instructors, chaperones, and other personnel participating in such trips, as well as incidental 

expenses for the use of district equipment during the trip, may be paid from district funds.  

(Education Code 35330) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

8760  Authorization of outdoor science and conservation programs 

32040-32044  First aid equipment: field trips 

35330  Excursions and field trips 

35331  Provision for medical or hospital service for pupils (on field trips) 

35332  Transportation by chartered airline 

35350  Transportation of students 

44808  Liability when pupils not on school property 

48908  Duties of pupils; authority of teachers 

BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS CODE 

17550-17550.9  Sellers of travel 

17552-17556.5  Educational travel organizations 

 

Management Resources: 



WEB SITES 

American Red Cross:  http://www.redcross.org 

California Association of Directors of Activities:  http://www.cada1.org 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security:  http://www.dhs.gov 

 

 

 

 (3/91  7/06)  10/17 



CSBA Sample 

Board Policy 

Transitional Kindergarten 
 

BP 6170.1  

Instruction 
 

 

***Note: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain kindergarten and may be 

revised to reflect district practice.  Education Code 48000 provides that children are eligible for 

kindergarten enrollment if they have their fifth birthday on or before September 1 in that school 

year; see AR 5111 - Admission.  Pursuant to Education Code 48000, any child whose birthday is 

between September 2 and December 2 must be offered a transitional kindergarten (TK) 

program.*** 

 

***Note:  Education Code 48000 defines TK as the first year of a two-year kindergarten 

program that uses a modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and developmentally 

appropriate. Many of the requirements applicable to kindergarten (e.g., class size, minimum 

school day, facilities) are also applicable to TK. The district will receive funding based on 

average daily attendance (ADA) for students in a TK program that meets the requirements 

specified in Education Code 48000.*** 

 

***Note:  For guidance on implementing TK programs, see the Transitional Kindergarten 

Implementation Guide: A Resource for California Public School District Administrators and 

Teachers, published by the California Department of Education (CDE).*** 

 

The Governing Board desires to offer a high-quality transitional kindergarten (TK) program for 

eligible children who do not yet meet the minimum age criterion for kindergarten. The TK 

program shall assist students in developing the academic, social, and emotional skills they need 

to succeed in kindergarten and beyond. 

 

The district's TK program shall be the first year of a two-year kindergarten program.  (Education 

Code 48000) 

 

The Board encourages ongoing collaboration among district preschool staff, other preschool 

providers, elementary teachers, administrators, and parents/guardians in the development, 

implementation, and evaluation of the district's TK program. 

 

(cf. 1220 - Citizen Advisory Committees) 

(cf. 6020 - Parent Involvement) 

 

Eligibility 

 

The district's TK program shall admit children whose fifth birthday is from September 2 through 

December 2.  (Education Code 48000) 

 



***Note: The CDE's "Transitional Kindergarten FAQs" clarify that children are required to have 

documentation of required immunizations or a valid exemption prior to admission to TK. For 

information about required immunizations and exemptions, see BP/AR 5141.31 - 

Immunizations.*** 

 

Parents/guardians of eligible children shall be notified of the availability of the TK program and 

the age, residency, immunization, and any other enrollment requirements.  Enrollment in the TK 

program shall be voluntary. 

 

(cf. 5111 - Admission) 

(cf. 5111.1 - District Residency) 

(cf. 5141.22 - Infectious Diseases) 

(cf. 5141.3 - Health Examinations) 

(cf. 5141.31 - Immunizations) 

(cf. 5141.32 - Health Screening for School Entry) 

 

***Note: The following paragraph is optional.  If the district chooses to allow 

kindergarten-eligible children to enroll in the TK program, CDE recommends that the district 

establish criteria to determine selection requirements. The parent/guardian of a 

kindergarten-eligible child who is enrolled in TK must, at the end of the year, sign a Kindergarten 

Continuance Form verifying that he/she agrees to have the child continue in kindergarten the 

following year; see section "Continuation in Kindergarten" below.*** 

 

Upon request of a child's parents/guardians, the district may, on a case-by-case basis after the 

Superintendent or designee determines that it is in the child's best interest, admit into the district's 

TK program a child whose fifth birthday is on or before September 1 and who is therefore 

eligible for kindergarten. 

 

***Note: The following paragraph is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 48000, the district 

may, at its discretion, determine whether to allow admittance of children whose fifth birthday is 

after December 2. Such students may be admitted at any time during the school year, including at 

the beginning of the year. Education Code 48000 provides that districts will not receive ADA 

apportionment for a child whose birthday is after December 2 until the child reaches his/her fifth 

birthday.*** 

 

At any time during the school year, the district may admit into the TK program a child whose 

fifth birthday is after December 2 of that same school year, provided that the Superintendent or 

designee recommends that enrollment in a TK program is in the child's best interest and the 

child's parents/guardians approve. Prior to such enrollment, the child's parents/guardians shall be 

provided information regarding the advantages and disadvantages and any other explanatory 

information about the effect of early admittance.  (Education Code 48000) 

 

Curriculum and Instruction 

 

The district's TK program shall be based on a modified kindergarten curriculum that is age and 

developmentally appropriate.  (Education Code 48000) 

 

(cf. 6141 - Curriculum Development and Evaluation) 



(cf. 6161.1 - Selection and Evaluation of Instructional Materials) 

 

***Note: Education Code 48000 states the Legislature's intent that the TK curriculum be aligned 

to the California Preschool Learning Foundations developed by the CDE. These standards 

address essential skills in the subject areas listed below. The standards and companion preschool 

curriculum frameworks are available on CDE's web site.*** 

 

The program shall be aligned with the preschool learning foundations and preschool curriculum 

frameworks developed by the California Department of Education. It shall be designed to 

facilitate students' development in essential skills related to language and literacy, mathematics, 

physical development, health, visual and performing arts, science, history-social science, English 

language development, and social-emotional development. 

 

(cf. 5148.3 - Preschool/Early Childhood Education) 

(cf. 6011 - Academic Standards) 

(cf. 6174 - Education for English Learners) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Education 

Code 37202, as amended by AB 99 (Ch. 15, Statutes of 2017), permits districts to maintain TK 

and kindergarten classes for different lengths of time during the school day, either at the same or 

a different school site. Districts offering TK classes for different lengths of time are still required 

to meet the minimum and maximum length of school day provided in law. Pursuant to Education 

Code 46111 and 46117, at the kindergarten and TK level the minimum school day is three hours 

(180 minutes), including recess but excluding noon intermission, and the maximum school day is 

four hours (240 minutes), excluding recess, unless the district has adopted an extended-day 

kindergarten pursuant to Education Code 8973.  However, pursuant to Education Code 46119, if 

the district has fewer than 40 kindergarten students, the Governing Board may apply to the 

Superintendent of Public Instruction to maintain two kindergarten classes of 150 minutes each, 

including recesses, taught on the same day by the same teacher. Also see AR 6112 - School 

Day.*** 

 

***Note:  Pursuant to Education Code 48003, districts are required to provide an annual report 

to the CDE regarding the type of kindergarten program offered by the district, including part day, 

full day, or both. The School Information Form 2017, located on the CDE web site, requires a 

report on the type of TK program offered.*** 

 

The Board shall establish the length(s) of the school day in the district's TK program. TK 

programs may be maintained for different lengths of time either at the same or different school 

sites, as long as the school day is at least three hours but no more than four hours. The 

Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the California Department of Education as to 

whether the district's TK programs are offered full day, part day, or both.  (Education Code 

37202, 46111, 46117, 48003) 

 

(cf. 6111 - School Calendar) 

(cf. 6112 - School Day) 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. According 

to the CDE's "Transitional Kindergarten FAQs," it is the intent of the law to provide separate and 



unique experiences for TK and kindergarten students. However, districts have flexibility to 

determine how best to meet the curricular needs of each child and whether TK and kindergarten 

students may be enrolled in the same classrooms.*** 

 

TK students may be placed in the same classrooms as kindergarten students when necessary, 

provided that the instructional program is differentiated to meet student needs. 

 

Staffing 

 

***Note: To be qualified to teach a TK class, the teacher must possess an appropriate multiple 

subjects or early childhood education credential issued by the Commission on Teacher 

Credentialing (CTC) authorizing instruction in TK. Education Code 48000 establishes additional 

requirements for credentialed teachers who are first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, as 

provided below.*** 

 

***Note:  TK assignments are subject to assignment monitoring and reporting by the County 

Superintendent of Schools in accordance with Education Code 44258.9.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that teachers assigned to teach in TK classes possess 

a teaching credential or permit from the Commission on Teacher Credentialing (CTC) that 

authorizes such instruction. 

 

(cf. 4112.2 - Certification) 

 

A credentialed teacher who is first assigned to a TK class after July 1, 2015, shall, by August 1, 

2020, have at least 24 units in early childhood education and/or child development, comparable 

experience in a preschool setting, and/or a child development teacher permit issued by the CTC.  

(Education Code 48000) 

 

The Superintendent or designee may provide professional development as needed to ensure that 

TK teachers are knowledgeable about the standards and effective instructional methods for 

teaching young children. 

 

(cf. 4131 - Staff Development) 

 

Continuation to Kindergarten 

 

***Note: The following section is consistent with guidance in the CDE's "Transitional 

Kindergarten FAQs."*** 

 

Students who complete the TK program shall be eligible to continue in kindergarten the 

following school year. Parents/guardians of such students shall not be required to submit a signed 

Kindergarten Continuance Form for kindergarten attendance. 

 

***Note: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that allow kindergarten-eligible 

children to enroll in TK; see "Eligibility" section above. When such students are subsequently 

enrolled in kindergarten, the district is required to obtain a signed Kindergarten Continuance 

Form in order to receive kindergarten ADA for those children since they would otherwise be 



age-eligible for first grade. CDE recommends that approval for a student to continue in 

kindergarten not be sought until near the end of the year of TK, since permission obtained 

unreasonably far in advance could be found invalid.*** 

 

However, whenever children who would otherwise be age-eligible for kindergarten are enrolled 

in TK, the Superintendent or designee shall obtain a Kindergarten Continuance Form signed by 

the parent/guardian near the end of the TK year consenting to the child's enrollment in 

kindergarten the following year. 

 

***Note: Pursuant to Education Code 46300, the district may not include for ADA purposes the 

attendance of any student for more than two years in a combination of TK and kindergarten.*** 

 

A student shall not attend more than two years in a combination of TK and kindergarten.  

(Education Code 46300) 

 

(cf. 5123 - Promotion/Acceleration/Retention) 

 

Assessment 

 

***Note: The following section may be revised to reflect district practice. One assessment 

resource for TK students is the CDE's Desired Results Developmental Profile, which is designed 

to assess the developmental progression of all children from early infancy to kindergarten 

entry.*** 

 

The Superintendent or designee may develop or identify appropriate formal and/or informal 

assessments of TK students' development and progress. He/she shall monitor and regularly report 

to the Board regarding program implementation and the progress of students in meeting related 

academic standards. 

 

(cf. 0500 - Accountability) 

(cf. 6162.5 - Student Assessment) 

 

 

 

Legal Reference: 

EDUCATION CODE 

8973  Extended-day kindergarten 

37202  School calendar; equivalency of instructional minutes 

44258.9  Assignment monitoring by county superintendent of schools 

46111  Kindergarten, hours of attendance 

46114-46119  Minimum school day, kindergarten 

46300  Computation of ADA, inclusion of kindergarten and transitional kindergarten 

48000  Age of admission, kindergarten and transitional kindergarten 

48002  Evidence of minimum age required to enter kindergarten or first grade 

48003 Kindergarten annual report 

48200  Compulsory education, starting at age six 

 

Management Resources: 



CSBA PUBLICATIONS 

What Boards of Education Can Do About Kindergarten Readiness, Governance Brief, May 2016 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION PUBLICATIONS 

Transitional Kindergarten FAQs 

Desired Results Developmental Profile, 2015 

Transitional Kindergarten Implementation Guide: A Resource for California Public School 

District Administrators and Teachers, 2013 

California Preschool Curriculum Framework, Vol. 1, 2010 

California Preschool Learning Foundations, Vol. 1, 2008 

WEB SITES 

CSBA: http://www.csba.org 

California Department of Education: http://www.cde.ca.gov 

California Kindergarten Association: http://www.ckanet.org 

Commission on Teacher Credentialing: http://www.ctc.ca.gov 

Transitional Kindergarten California: http://www.tkcalifornia.org 

 

 

 

 (4/15  10/15)  10/17 



PACIFIC ELEMENATRY

FYE 2017/18 Pacific Elem. SD 2017/18 1st Interim PB

1st Interim 17/18 Project Budget
RESOURCE # 6500 9024 3310 6512 9006 6300 9010 9010 4035 4203 5811 6230 6264

NAME  RSP Psych Thrp PL 94-142 MENTAL HLTH Music/Art LOT MAT Field Trips Spc Fund ActivityTeachQulity Title III EL REAP Prop 39 Ed. Effect

MANAGEMENT # 1304 1310 1320 1306 2341 3000 3056 3057 4035 4203 5811 6230 6264

 Deferred Revenue

8000-8099 - Rev. Limit

8100-8299 - Federal 24,412    942          1,401      13,120   

8300-8599 - State 5,895       4,545       -             -              -                -           

8600-8799 - Local 49,585         -             7,000     4,000       500         

TOTAL REVENUE 49,585         -             24,412    5,895       7,000     4,545       4,000       500         942          1,401      13,120   -                -           

1000-Certificated Salaries 58,074         12,375    2,150       -             3,100    

2000-Classified Salaries 39,650         11,200   15,351   -           

3000-Benefits 27,586         401         1,062     641          1,438     537      

4000-Books & Supplies 400              4,545       2,000       500         -              1,370      -             -                

5000-Service&Operating 34,252         -             24,412    -               2,000       225          -             111,600    -           

6000-Capital Outlay -                

7100-7200-Other out go

7300-Indirects 31           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 159,962.78  12,776    24,412    -               12,262   4,545       4,000       500         3,015.76  1,401      16,788   111,600    3,637    

OTHER SOURCES:

   89XX TRANS IN

   76XX TRANS OUT (750)       

 CONTR. REST. TO REST.  #8990 -             -              -             

CONTR UNRES TO UNREST #8980

CONTR. UNRES TO RESTR. #8981 110,377.78    12,776      6,011.88  2,073.76    3,668.35  

TOTAL OTHER 110,378       12,776    -             -               5,262     -               -              -             2,074       -              3,668     -                -           

NET INCR/DECR TO 

     FUND BALANCE -                   -             -             5,895       0            -               -              -             -              -              -             (111,600)   (3,637)  

ACTUAL  BEG. FUND BALANCE -                      -                -               16,144.02  -               216.34       3,832.27   -               -                 -                -               166,154.00 3,637     

 END FUND BALANCE -                   -             -             22,039     0            216          3,832.27  -             -              -              -             54,554      (0)         

Min. ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTY RESERVE

LCFF Difference BASC vs SCC reserve

Net Unrestricted Mgmt 2801

SPECIAL EDUCATION

Pacific_1st Interim 1718.xlsx 12/18/2017



PACIFIC ELEMENATRY

FYE 2017/18

1st Interim 17/18 Project Budget
RESOURCE #

NAME  

MANAGEMENT #

 Deferred Revenue

8000-8099 - Rev. Limit

8100-8299 - Federal 

8300-8599 - State

8600-8799 - Local

TOTAL REVENUE

1000-Certificated Salaries

2000-Classified Salaries

3000-Benefits

4000-Books & Supplies

5000-Service&Operating 

6000-Capital Outlay

7100-7200-Other out go

7300-Indirects

TOTAL EXPENDITURES

OTHER SOURCES:

   89XX TRANS IN

   76XX TRANS OUT

 CONTR. REST. TO REST.  #8990

CONTR UNRES TO UNREST #8980

CONTR. UNRES TO RESTR. #8981

TOTAL OTHER

NET INCR/DECR TO 

     FUND BALANCE

ACTUAL  BEG. FUND BALANCE

 END FUND BALANCE

Min. ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTY RESERVE

LCFF Difference BASC vs SCC reserve

Net Unrestricted Mgmt 2801

Pacific Elem. SD 2017/18 1st Interim PB

7690 0700 0000 0000 0102 0102 0000 1400 1100 0000 0000 0000

STRS On-BehalfLCFF Suplmntl Ind Study OTMC/CC LIBRARY PC DONATE GENERAL EPA LOTTERY DAY CARE LIFE LAB REC FUND

7690 7000 1103 8550 2391 2630 2801 2801 3000 3008 3009 3010 TOTAL RESTRICT UNRESTRICT

-                   -                -                

1,313       818,307      165,645   985,265.00  -                985,265     

-              39,875.00    39,875      -                

43,025     14,857    3,179          14,544      86,045.00    53,465      32,580       

500             48,110      11,250        19,420      500       18,516       159,381.00  61,085      98,296       

43,025     1,313       500             14,857    -            48,110      832,736      165,645   14,544      19,420      500       18,516       1,270,566.00 154,425    1,116,141  

106,531      -            227,533      110,414    520,176.93  75,699      444,478     

1,200       -                  7,932        101,659      6,954       10,211      2,000    10,060       206,217.11  66,201      138,816     

43,025     113          31,126        752           111,884      40,994     6,382        189       2,877         269,006.87  74,690      194,204     

1,200          250         248        21,000      7,400.0       -              13,400      300           900       1,160         54,673.17    8,815        45,858       

1,300          -            7,500        83,254.0     7,282       900           3,000        2,000    4,000         281,725.77  172,489    109,236     

-                   -                -                

250.0          250              -                250            

(31)              -                   -                -                

43,025     1,313       140,157      250         248        37,184      531,949      165,645    14,300      19,893      5,089    18,097       1,332,049.85 397,894    932,843     

-                   -                -                

(9,000)         (750)           (10,500)        (750)          (9,750)       

-                  -                   -                -                

-                   -                -                

139,657.05 (4,500)       (139,657.05)  4,500    -                   -                -                

(6,011.88)   (128,896)       -                      134,908      (134,908)     

-              -              139,657      -              -            (10,512)     (277,553)     -              -                -                4,500    (750)           (10,500)        134,158    (144,658)    

-              -              -                  14,607    (248)      414           23,234        0             244           (473)          (89)        (331)           (71,984)        (109,342)   37,358       

-                 -                 -                    78,402.00 248.17    35,941.91   503,123.16   -                 25,388.29   33,025.91   2,120.43 25,433.07       893,666.33    189,983.39 703,682.94  

-              -              -                  93,009    -            36,355.61 526,357.42 0.00         25,632.29 32,553.15 2,031.43 25,102.18    821,682.48    80,641.40   741,041.08  

821,682            

Min EU 75,000.00       

Max EU 134,254.99     

Excess of max 392,102.44     

Pacific_1st Interim 1718.xlsx 12/18/2017



PACIFIC ELEMENATRY
FYE 2017/18

Fund 01 Fund 12 Fund 14 Fund 17 Fund 21 Fund 25 TOTAL

FLOF Res 5310

8000-8099 - Rev. Limit 985,265       5,000      990,265       

8100-8299 - Federal 39,875         -               22,000       61,875         

8300-8599 - State 86,045         32,000      1,300         -              119,345       

8600-8799 - Local 159,381       66,620      18,800    38,100       50           2,000          1,400           266      286,617       

TOTAL REVENUE 1,270,566    98,620      18,800    61,400       5,050      2,000          1,400           266      1,458,102    

1000-Certificated Salaries 520,177       520,177       

2000-Classified Salaries 206,217       71,195      12,030    24,204       313,645       

3000-Benefits 269,007       38,822      2,984      11,134       321,947       

4000-Books & Supplies 54,673         2,600        1,500      38,000       96,773         

5000-Service&Operating 281,726       1,050        2,600      1,450         7,700      52,500         5          347,031       

6000-Capital Outlay -                  -                  

7100-7200-Other out go 250              250             

7300-Indirects -                  -                  

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,332,050    113,667    19,113    74,788       7,700      -                 52,500         5          1,599,823    

OTHER SOURCES:

   89XX TRANS IN -                  -             11,700       45,000        56,700         

   76XX TRANS OUT 10,500         1,200        45,000         56,700         

 CONTR. REST. TO REST.  #8990 -                  -                  

-                  

CONTR UNRES TO UNREST #8980 -                  -                  

CONTR. UNRES TO RESTR. #8981 -                  -                  

TOTAL OTHER (10,500)        (1,200)      -             11,700       -              45,000        (45,000)        -           -                  

NET INCR/DECR TO 

     FUND BALANCE (71,984)        (16,247)    (313)        (1,688)       (2,650)     47,000        (96,100)        261      (141,721)     

ACTUAL  BEG. FUND BALANCE 893,666.33    27,241      11,094    8,412         7,033      216,963      109,077       2,335   1,275,822    

EST. END FUND BALANCE 821,682.48  10,995      10,780    6,724         4,383      263,963      12,977         2,596   1,134,101    

RESTRICTED/DESIGNATED FUNDS 295,325       

Min. ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTY RESERVE 75,000         

Max. ECONOMIC UNCERTAINTY RESERVE 134,255       <-10%

UNRESTRICTED FUND BALANCE 392,102       263,963      

ALL FUNDS
Pacific Elem. SD 2017/18 1st Interim PB

Fund 13

12/18/2017 FN:  


